
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Venue: Town Hall, 
Moorgate Street, 
Rotherham, S60 2TH

Date: Tuesday, 28th August, 2018

Time: 5.00 p.m.

A G E N D A

1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 
suggested in accordance with the Local Government Act, 1972. 

2. To determine any item which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency. 

3. Apologies for absence. 

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 9th July, 2018 (Pages 1 - 6)

6. LAC Council and Lil LAC Club Annual Report Summary  2017/2018 (Pages 7 - 
8)

7. Looked After Promises - Adult Care, Housing and Public Health 
Strategic Director, Adult Care, Housing and Public Health, to present

8. Corporate Parenting Performance Report - June 2018 (Pages 9 - 28)

9. Rotherham SIF Improvement Plan (Page 29)

10. Intensive Intervention Programme - Pilot Phase (Pages 30 - 75)

11. Champions' Feedback 

 



(The Chair authorised consideration of the following item to enable Panel 
members to be fully informed of the current situation.)

12. Educational Outcomes - Looked After Children and Young People 2018 (Pages 
76 - 80)

13. Date and Time of the Future Meetings 

Membership of the Corporate Parenting Panel: -

Councillors G. Watson (Deputy Leader and Children and Young People’s Services 
Portfolio holder), V. Cusworth (Chair of the Improving Lives Select Commission), P. 
Jarvis (second representative of the Improving Lives Select Commission), M. S. 
Elliott (Minority Party representative) and J. Elliot (representative on the Fostering 
and Adoption Panels). 

Sharon Kemp,
Chief Executive.  



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
Monday, 9th July, 2018

Present:- Councillor Watson (in the Chair); Councillors Elliot and Jarvis.

Also present were Tracey Arnold, Tina Hohn, Ian Walker and Rebecca Wall.

Angelina, Adorabella, Brogan, Jordan Kaylen, Kira, Manny, Skye and Zuzana 
together with Lisa DuValle were in attendance.

Apologies for absence were submitted by Collette Bailey, Councillor Cusworth, 
Councillor M. Elliott, Catherine Hall, Karen Holgate, Mary Jarrett and Mel Meggs.

1.   ICEBREAKER 

All present took part in constructing the highest spaghetti tower.

Team Jayne and Me took the prize.

2.   DIANA AWARDS 

Rotherham LAC Council had been given national recognition and 
awarded the prestigious Diana Award in recognition of their ‘outstanding 
contribution to society’ though their voice and influence projects including 
the ‘Bin Liners are NOT Suitcases’ Campaign.

The Diana Award judges thought their story was ‘truly inspirational’.

The LAC Council had been invited to an award ceremony in September at 
the Leeds College of Music to collect their award.  In addition each award 
holder had been invited by Earl Spencer, brother of the late Princess 
Diana, to visit Althorp House, her childhood home.

3.   LAC COUNCIL CHAMPION REQUEST 

The LAC Council and Lil Lac Club requested that Councillor Gordon 
Watson be the LAC Council Champion.

A vote took place and Councillor Watson was appointed the LAC Council 
Champion.

Councillor Watson said that he was proud to accept the position.

4.   EID PARTY AND FOSTER CARE MATCHING FOR MUSLIM LAC 

Kiera brought the Panel’s drew attention to the need for cultural and 
spiritual equality and the fact that an EID Party for Muslim LAC should 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

have the same importance as a Xmas party for Christian LAC.

The young people were aware that there was a new project to try and 
recruit Muslim foster carers in Rotherham.  They would like the Panel to 
support them to put in place a Muslim LAC so they would be able to have 
an EID celebration party every year as it was as equally important as the 
non-Muslims.

A number of Muslim LAC lived with non-Muslim carers who did not 
celebrate EID or Ramadan.  The young people asked that Social Workers 
give the opportunity to LAC Muslim children to spend the period of 
Ramadan with a Muslim family.

Keira had been teamed up with a Muslim family and had attended an EID 
party.

Ian Walker, Head of Service, reported that although the pilot project had 
not started as yet, engagement with local mosques had significantly 
improved.  The intention was to increase the number of host families and 
to team up with individual Muslim young people in order that the 
experience of Ramadan could be shared and hold an EID party.

Tina Hohn, Virtual School, queried if EID was celebrated in secondary 
schools. All schools should be celebrating EID as part of the cultural 
diversity and were encouraged to do so.  She undertook to get that 
message out when she spoke to the Virtual School.

Manny felt it was a problem more for secondary schools than primary.

5.   FUNDING AND LACC BUDGET/BANK ACCOUNT 

Manny and Keira had undergone an interview process for the position of 
Treasure and Vice-Treasurer to ascertain if they could cope with the 
burden of the positions.  They had been appointed to the respective 
positions as from March, 2018 to April, 2019.

The LAC Council received £6,000 in funding from the Council split £3,000 
to LAC and £3,000 to Lil LAC although requests had been made to 
increase the budget.  

A big chunk of the budget was spent on room hire.  The young people had 
been busy writing fundraising bids but they were very time consuming.  
However, as the LAC Council did not have its own bank account, they did 
not qualify for the bids.

The LAC Council asked the Panel, in its role as corporate parent, if it 
could support/help them get their own bank account.

When applying for funding, organisations were reluctant to give the 
funding without there being a bank account even though the LAC Council 

Page 2



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

had its own Constitution and Terms of Reference.  Any funding could be 
put into the Corporate bank but the young people did not want to do that.

Discussion ensued with the following suggestions made:-

 Setting up as a charity – have to have £2,000 in a bank account to 
achieve charitable status for a specified period before you could be 
considered

 Voluntary Action Rotherham – already contacted and spoken about 
the different opportunities available.  Everything was now in place 
apart from the bank account

 What did other LACCs do - no other LACC’s had bank accounts but 
they received the funding that they needed

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest made at the meeting.

REPRESENTATIVES OF THE LAC COUNCIL THANKED MEMBERS OF THE 
PANEL FOR PARTICIPATING IN THEIR ACTIVITIES AND FOR THEIR 
ATTENDANCE. 

7.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 8TH MAY 2018 

Resolved:-  That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th May, 
2018, be approved as a correct record of proceedings.

Arising from Minute No. 69, it was noted that, with the retirement of 
Lorraine Dale, the management structure of the Virtual School had been 
changed and would now consist of a Head, 2 Deputy Advisers and 2 
Education Advisers which would give extra capacity.

Work would also take place with regard to the Gypsy/Roma Traveller 
community using the good practice derived from LAC.

8.   LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN'S COUNCIL UPDATE JULY 2018 

The Panel noted the LAC Council update report May and June, 2018, 
which highlighted some of the LACC’s work during the period including:-

 Diana Award for Outstanding Contribution to Society
 Improving contact with families
 Voice of the Rotherham Child event
 CICC Regional seminar at Leeds Civic Hall on 30th May
 Interview Panel for Strategic Director
 LAC Council Treasurer and Vice-Treasurer

Page 3



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

9.   CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Further to Minute No. 66 of the meeting held on 18th May, 2018, it was 
noted that the changes had been incorporated from the previous meeting 
and a slight amendment to include reporting to the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board twice a year when we really only need to do so on an 
annual basis.

Resolved:-  That the amended Terms of Reference be approved.

10.   CORPORATE PARENTING PERFORMANCE REPORT - MAY 2018 

Consideration was given to the report presented by Ian Walker, Head of 
Service, on behalf of Deborah Johnson, report author, which provided a 
summary of performance for key performance indicators across Looked 
After Children Services for May, 2018.  This was read in conjunction with 
the accompanying performance data report at Appendix A detailing trend 
data, graphical analysis and benchmarking data against national and 
statistical neighbour averages where possible.

A Service overview and context was provided which indicated a continual 
increase in the Looked After Children profile.  Between March 2017 and 
March 2018 the number of LAC had increased by 29% (488 to 628).  As 
at the end of May this had increased further to 642.

This increase in LAC numbers and the consequential shortage in 
available placements, had had an increase in the number of young people 
placed outside of the local area which in turn had had a negative impact 
on Social Work capacity.  However, despite the additional capacity 
pressures, in general performance remained sustained across a number 
of areas.

Rotherham continued to have an increasing Looked After Children profile.  
The 642 children at the end of May equated to a rate of 113.4 per 10,000 
population; this was significantly high when compared to the statistical 
neighbour average of 81.3.

Overall Rotherham’s LAC age profile followed a similar distribution to that 
of the latest national comparator.  The most notable differences being the 
higher rate of children aged 1-4 years (16% compared to 13%) and a 
lower proportion aged over 16 (16.8% compared to 24%).

The percentage distribution by legal status remained consistent with 52% 
of children subject to full Care Orders, 31% on an Interim Care Order, 
10% on Placement Orders with Care Order and 6% were under Section 
20.
 
After a period of consistency, compliance on plans at the end of May had 
dropped to 87.4% (from 90%).  This area still remained under close 
management scrutiny in performance meetings and had increased to 

Page 4



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

89.5%.

There had been a decline since the end of 2017/18 in the timeliness of 
Statutory Reviews (96.1% to 78.8%).  The timeliness had declined once 
again this month to 78.8%.  This had been attributed to ongoing sickness 
and capacity issues within the IRO Service although there was also an 
issue in respect of a smaller number of Reviews not being held due to 
Social Workers not having completed their pre-Review reports.

Despite the overall increase in numbers, the proportion of children placed 
in a family based setting remained stable at 81%.  The increase at the 
end of 2017/18 in the number and proportion of children experiencing 
multiple placement moves had continued.  13.8% (88 children) had had 3 
or more placements.  This had in part been linked to the shortage or 
placement choice creased by the national increase in LAC making 
appropriate matching decisions an increasing challenge but work 
continued to work with providers to improve this for Rotherham children.

Following incremental improvements during 2017/18 the proportion of 
long term LAC who had lived in the same placement for over 2 years 
appeared to have plateaued at 61.3% (92 out of 150 children).  This had 
been impacted by the increasing number of long term LAC and the desire 
to bring children closer to home and into family placements.

The Panel sought clarification on a number of points including:-

 The number of older LAC refusing health and dental checks
 Ongoing work with the Paediatrician to get Initial Health Assessments 

undertaken in places other than the hospital
 Undertaking by Rotherham CCG to offer all their apprenticeships in 

the first instance to LAC
 Retention of foster carers still an issue
 Relaunch of Challenge 63 in September
 Forecasted number of adoptions - 41 for this year
 National spike in the time it was taking from lodging an Adoption 

Order application and being heard in Court
 Rotherham was recognised as the regional lead in the use of EPP

Resolved:-  That the contents of the report and accompanying dataset 
(Appendix A) be received and noted.

11.   LIFELONG LINKS 

Lifelong Links was a DfE pilot project currently being implemented by 7 
local authorities including North Yorkshire County Council and Kent 
County Council.  

The programme had been introduced from the USA where it was found 
that the young people involved achieved positive outcomes in terms of 
placement stability and making and sustaining lifelong connections.

Page 5



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 09/07/18

The DfE wanted to extend the trial to 12 local authorities.  There had 
recently been awareness raising sessions attended by representatives 
from the LAC Service where the potential value of the project was 
recognised.

The aim of Lifelong Links was to create a lifelong support network for 
children and adolescents in the care system given that young people were 
likely to benefit from being connected to a supportive adult and that good 
contact between them and the wider family led to higher levels of support 
when they left care.  It was aim at LAC under the age of 16 who had been 
in care for less than 3 years and where there was no plan for them to live 
their family/to be adopted/achieve permanence.  Evidence from the USA 
demonstrated that 50% of the young people involved in the project had no 
placement changes compared to 33% of the control group and that 81% 
of young people were able to establish long term connections not 
previously available to them.

Rotherham had submitted a bid that was currently going through the 
checks and balances stage.

Resolved:- That the report be noted.

12.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

(a)  An update would be provided to Councillor Elliot with regard to the 
number of places bought from foster agencies.

(b)  The Chair had visited Future 19 in Maltby which provided 
accommodation for 16-17 year olds in the process of leaving care.  
Rotherham had bought 3 places within the project.  If any Member wished 
to visit the facility they should contact the Chair.

13.   DATE AND TIME OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

Resolved:-  That further meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel be 
held as follows all commencing at 5.00 p.m.:-

28th August, 2018
16th October
18th December
12th February, 2019
9th April

Page 6



1 | P a g e

2017/2018 has been an exciting year for the LAC Council and Lil’ LAC Club who have been busy 
successfully achieving fabulous results in making their voices heard locally, regionally and nationally. The 
aims of the LACC are to help design, develop and shape services for Rotherham Looked After and Leaving 
Care young people and ensure that Looked After and Leaving Care young people have their Voices heard 
within Social Care, Early Help and the wider Children’s Development Agenda. All of which have been 
successfully met over the past 12 months.  The numerous experiences and opportunities offered to young 
people at the LAC Council and Lil’ LACC are specifically designed to increase social capital, self-
awareness and self-esteem, to foster resilience and support better outcomes for our vulnerable young 
people and of course very importantly to have fun!
  
LAC Shaping Services
The LAC Council are a committed Voice & Influence group who meet weekly. Ofsted visited our group in 
November and we are pleased to say this is what was published in their January 2018 Report about us:

‘The members of the Looked After Children’s Council do a very good job of 
making sure that staff listen to them, so that they understand how to improve 
services for Children in Care and Care Leavers.  This includes helping to 
recruit Social Workers and train Foster Carers.’       (Ofsted 2018)

The Ofsted Inspector also told senior Management that the LAC Council was a real burgeoning strength 
and said they were ‘vibrant and committed’ and were clearly having an impact on the service provided to 
Looked After Children. 

The Looked After Children’s Council has held focus groups, 1;1 discussions, and delivered campaigns that 
have helped to shape services to improve the lives of Looked After and Leaving Care young people in 
Rotherham, here are some examples:

 Improving the lives of Looked after Children and young people by planning and delivering a 
campaign ‘Bin Liners are NOT Suitcases’  to stop the practice of bin liners being given to LAC when 
they move placements and asking for suitcases to carry their belongings and precious items 
instead. This 6 month Campaign was raised Locally, Regionally and Nationally and saw Policy and 
Practice change in Rotherham.  The group had also creating their own video ‘Precious Things’ and 
celebrated their success by holding a sensational Fashion Show and Event with RCAT where they 
all dressed in Black Bin-Liner outfits to raise awreness of the changes.

 Improving Fostering in Rotherham #1  by creating a set of 8 questions to place the child’s voice in 
the Foster Carer Panel Process

 Improving Fostering in Rotherham #2 by developing a young person friendly confidential form for 
LAC to feedback their views and perceptions of current Foster Placements – the resulting feedback 
will be routinely analysed to support service improvement.

 Improving Health Services for LAC, have consulted with Public Health England and Sheffield 
Hallam University, information to be included in Health Needs Assessment and LAC Emotional 
Health Advisory Group.

 Improved Virtual Schools Service by holding a LAC specific focus group to discuss themes of 
friendship, feeling safe and secure and recognising talents and hobbies, to enable them to improve 
services for LAC within School setting. 

 Reviewed and re-launched the LAC and Leaving Care Corporate Promises where the Mayor, 
Council Leaders and Senior Managers have renewed their support by signing up to them.

 Supported the development of and engaged in the ‘Different but Equal’ event where LAC Council 
expressed their opinions on a number of topics alongside other peer groups

 Engaged in the Children in Care Regional Conference in Leeds University.  The LAC COUNCIL 
delivered their presentation around Destination Poland and ‘Bin Liners are NOT Suitcases’ 
Campaign. The Children’s Commissioner for England Anne Longfield was so taken by the 

LAC COUNCIL & LIL LAC CLUB 
Annual Report Summary  2017/2018 

for Local Safeguarding Children Board

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



2 | P a g e

Rotherham presentation she photographed the group and their images of ‘bin liners’ and Tweeted 
our Campaign nationally.

LAC Community Engagement
The LAC Council are also committed to engaging with their community and have helped plan and deliver 
the following;

 Armed Forces Day in Rotherham Town Centre
 Rotherham Show 
 Holocaust Memorial Day
 Remembrance Sunday Parade and Church Service, where members placed a poppy wreath on 

Clifton Park Cenotaph on behalf of all Looked After Children in Rotherham.

International Residential Destination Poland April 2017
The LAC COUNCIL also underwent a 9 month fundraising campaign to raise funds to take 14 LAC on an 
educational visit to Poland for 5 days. To prepare for the journey the group researched the Holocaust, 
engaged in Holocaust Memorial Day event and visited the Holocaust Museum to learn about hate crimes 
and the importance of love, peace and community cohesion. The young people had a very emotional and 
moving experience visiting Auschwitz and Auschwitz Birkenau memorial and museums. The stark reality of 
torture, brutality and starvation experienced in the former concentration camps were communicated in 
photographic evidence, displays and mountains of personal items taken from Jewish people who were later 
murdered proved to be distressing and overwhelming for some of our group. 

‘I will never forget this as long as I live’      15 year old LACC member

Award Winners
Each of the LAC Council members were nominated for the Pride of Rotherham Awards (PORA) in 
recognition for their commitment and dedication to volunteering and the Voice & Influence work to bring 
about positive changes for Looked After and Leaving Care Young people in Rotherham through the LAC 
Council. All LAC Council members received individual PORA’s a certificate and trophy presented to them at 
New York Stadium September 2017. 

Corporate Parenting Panel
The LAC COUNCIL also sit on the Corporate Parenting Panel and present written reports and verbal 
updates and presentations every two months at the Town Hall of what the group have been doing, their 
consultations and their current campaigns.  The group highlight issues that are important to LAC to the 
CPP and gain support to campaign for changes for Looked After and Leaving Care young people. 

Looked After Children’s Club – (AKA ‘LIL’ LACC) –  In October 2017, the LAC 
Participation Team opened our Lil LAC CLUB for looked after children at primary school aged 6 to 11 
years. Our Looked After Children have had many opportunities to participate in lively and fun group 
activities and games so children can meet and make friends in a safe welcoming environment. The LAC 
CLUB membership continues to grow and we have 18 children who regularly engage.  The children love to 
run around, play games, engage in arts and craft activities, and fill the room with laughter and loud 
enthusiastic chatter.  Verbal feedback from children and foster carers alike is extremely positive a Foster 
Carer recently emailed about the LAC CLUB:

‘The children absolutely love it and meeting other LAC.  I personally think it is more than beneficial 
to them’     Foster Carer

For  full details of the LAC COUNCIL and Lil LAC Club  please see the Update Reports submitted to LSCB 
quarterly between April 2017 and March 2018.

Contact Name: Lisa Du-Valle
LAC Voice, Influence & Participation Lead Children in Care
Tel: 01709 822130 or Mob: 07748143388              
Email: lisa.duvalle@rotherham.gov.uk

Page 8

mailto:lisa.duvalle@rotherham.gov.uk


Page 1 of 8

Public Report
Corporate Parenting Panel

Council Report 
Corporate Parenting Performance

Title
Corporate Parenting Performance Report – June 2018

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report

Report Author(s)
Deborah Johnson (Performance Assurance Manager – Social Care)
Ian Walker (Head of Service Children in Care)

Ward(s) Affected
All

Summary
1.1 This report provides a summary of performance for key performance 

indicators across Looked After Children services. It should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying performance data report at Appendix A 
which provides trend data, graphical analysis and benchmarking data 
against national and statistical neighbour averages where possible.

Recommendations
2.1 The Panel is asked to receive the report and accompanying dataset 

(Appendix A) and consider issues arising.

List of Appendices Included
Appendix A – Corporate Parenting Performance Report (May 2018)

Background Papers
Ofsted Improvement Letter
Children’s Social Care Monthly Performance Reports

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
No

Council Approval Required No

Exempt from the Press and Public No

Page 9 Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 8

Title: Corporate Parenting Performance Report – June 2018

1. Recommendations 

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to receive the report and 
accompanying dataset (Appendix A) and consider issues arising.

2. Background

2.1 This report provides evidence to the council’s commitment to improvement 
and providing performance information to enable scrutiny of the 
improvements and the impact on the outcomes for children and young 
people in care.  It should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
performance data report which provides trend data, graphical analysis and 
benchmarking data against national and statistical neighbour averages.

2.2 Targets, including associated ‘RAG’ (red, amber, green rating) tolerances, 
are included. These have been set in consideration of available national 
and statistical neighbour benchmarking data, recent performance levels 
and, importantly, Rotherham’s improvement journey.

2.4 Please note that all benchmarking data is as at the latest data release by 
the DfE and relates to 2016/17 outturn

2.5 The narrative supplied within the report has been informed by the Head of 
Looked After Children Services.

3. Key Issues

3.1 Service Overview and Context
3.1.1 There continues to be an increasing Looked After Children (LAC) 

profile. Between March 2017 and March 2018 the number of LAC 
increased by 29% from 488 to 628. As at the end of June this had 
increased further to 648.

3.1.2 This increase in LAC numbers and the consequential shortage in 
available placements has resulted in an increase in young people 
being placed outside of the local area; this in turn has negative 
impact on social work capacity. However despite the additional 
capacity pressures, in general, performance remains sustained 
across a number of areas. 

3.2 Looked After Children Profile

Page 10



Page 3 of 8

3.2.1 Rotherham continues to have an increasing Looked After Children 
(LAC) profile. The 648 children at the end of June equates to a rate 
of 114.5 per 10,000 population this is significantly high when 
compared to the statistical neighbour average of 81.3.

3.2.2 Table 1 provides a breakdown by age of the LAC population at the 
month end by age group against the latest national comparator 
data. This shows that overall Rotherham’s LAC age profile follows a 
similar distribution to the National. The most notable differences 
being the higher rate of children aged 5.9 years (23% compared to 
19%) and a lower proportion aged over sixteen (18% compared to 
24%).

Table 1 – Age distribution of Looked After Children at the end of the month

Age Band Number % of total Latest National 
comparative data (Mar-17)

Under 1 46 7% 5%
1 – 4 104 16% 13%
5 - 9 146 23% 19%

10 - 15 237 37% 39%
16+ 115 18% 24%
Total 648

3.2.3 The percentage distribution by legal status remains a consistent 
picture with 53% of children subject to full care orders, 31% on an 
Interim Care Order, 10% are on Placement Orders with Care Order, 
6% are under Section 20. Unfortunately there is no clear national 
data to benchmark this distribution against.

3.3 LAC Plans
3.3.1 Compliance on plans at the end of June dropped increased to 

90.1%. This area still remains under close management scrutiny in 
the performance meetings and at the time of this report (15/08/18) 
had increased further to 91%.

3.4 Reviews
3.4.1 In recent months there has been a decline in the timeliness of LAC 

Statutory Reviews from 96.1% (Mar 18) to 80.3% (May 18). 
However timeliness has significantly improved by more than 11% in 
June 18. This can be attributed to a number of Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IROs) returning from sick leave.

3.5 Visits
3.5.1 Performance in respect of Statutory Visits has declined slightly with 

long-term sick leave continuing to be an issue. Due to this and the 
continuing high demand, workers have been directed to prioritise 
visits to meet the national minimum standard over the local 
standard, (although this is a generalisation and visiting patterns are 

Page 11



Page 4 of 8

still influenced by any current risk factors for each child or young 
person). 

3.5.2 There is a correlation between the number of cases held by the 
team and performance (higher cases lower performance). 
Performance against National Minimum visiting standards has 
dipped from 97.5% (Mar 18) to 94.9%. 

3.5.3 A review at operational performance meetings has shown that for 
the majority, children on the system as ‘visit overdue’ have been 
seen, but workers had not yet updated their electronic record. This 
has been shown with the May 18 data which was 93.2%, following a 
data refresh in June this increased to 95.1%. 

3.6 Placements
3.6.1 Despite the overall increase in numbers the proportion of children 

placed in a family based setting remains relatively stable at 81.1%, 
(Family based settings include internal fostering, independent 
fostering, pre-adoption placements and those placed with 
parent/family/friends).

3.6.2 Although some placement moves are in the best interests of the 
child the provision of a good stable home is known to be essential 
for children to achieve good outcomes. Placement performance 
statistics demonstrate that we need to improve our preventative 
work to reduce placement disruption. 

3.6.3 The increase towards the end of 2017/18 in the number and 
proportion of children experiencing multiple placement moves 
continued into the new financial (14% - 89 children - May 18) but 
has seen a decrease in June 18 to 12.9% (83 children had three or 
more placements in 12 months). 

3.6.4 June 2018 saw an improvement in the proportion of long term LAC 
who has lived in the same placement which stood at 63.3% (95 out 
of 150 children) following a low in May (61.3% - 92 out of 150 
children. This measure has been impacted by the increasing 
number of long term LAC and our desire to bring children closer to 
home and into family placements. Due to the timeframes within the 
definition this is an area of performance which cannot be improved 
quickly. However after each child has 'moved' it takes at least 2 
years to improve this outcome measure therefore our improvement 
plan will take time to see full fruition.  

3.6.5 The first impact analysis of the Intensive Intervention Programme 
(IIP) has been completed. This evidences that whilst 14 of the LAC 
had 2 or more placement moves prior to them accessing the IIP this 
has reduced to 4 young people since their IIP intervention. Similarly 
the numbers in the group who were going missing from care has 
reduced from 7 to 3.

Page 12



Page 5 of 8

3.7 Looked After Children Health and Dental
3.7.1 Please note there are known delays in the data input for both 

Health and Dental information therefore we know that performance 
will change when statistics are rerun in future reports as figures 
reported by the LAC Health Team are higher than those recorded in 
local systems.

3.7.2 The number of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) complete each 
month increased to 27 in June with timeliness also increasing to 
44.4% (12 out of 27) from 27.3% (6 out of 22) in May. This shows a 
current 2018/19 year to date position of 40.3% (29 out of 72 IHAs in 
time).

3.7.3 With regards to Health reviews performance has dipped to 83.3% 
compared to 83.7% at the end of March. Similarly Dental 
performance has declined from 72.5% to 57.8%.

3.8 LAC Education
3.8.1 At the end of June 93.3% of eligible LAC population had a Personal 

Education Plan (33 LAC with no PEP). 
3.8.2 Rotherham has a local standard to ensure that each PEP is of good 

quality and refreshed every term (rather than the annual minimum 
standard). Data shows that at the end of the Spring Term 95% had 
a PEP from within the term. Although this performance is high and 
an improvement on the Autumn term it is slightly lower than usual 
due to a combination of the adverse weather which meant that 
several PEPs had to be rescheduled, and the fact that it was a very 
short term. At the time of this report (15/08/18) provisional data for 
the Summer Term showed an increase to 97.4%.

3.9 Care Leavers
3.9.1 The number of young people receiving a Care Leavers service at 

month end was 247 which is a decline on the 2017/18 year end 
position of 256.

3.9.2 A number of indicators have shown a decline in performance over 
the course of the month but remains strong and varies according to 
the circumstances for individual young people. There is, however, a 
potential risk to future performance in that as from April the Leaving 
Care Services now have the statutory duty, as set down in the 
Children and Social Work act 2017, to offer support to care leavers 
up to the age of 25. This is likely to have an impact on capacity 
within the team although plans are being formulated in order to 
mitigate this impact.

3.9.3 The proportion of care leavers who have a pathway plan has fallen 
but is still above target at 95.6%, with 93.1% of young people 
having plan less than 6 months old. Both represent a significant 
improvement on the year-end positions of 93.9% and 70.3% 
respectively. The service continues to focus on improving the 
quality of the plans so that they are meaningful for young people. 

Page 13



Page 6 of 8

The introduction of a new plan template will significantly improve 
the quality of the plans and will assist in addressing the variability 
issues identified in the Ofsted Monitoring Visit.

3.9.4 The proportion of care leavers in suitable accommodation remains 
strong at 92.3%, and represents top quartile performance 
nationally. 

3.9.5 Performance in respect of care leavers who are in Education, 
Employment or Training Remains strong at 62.3% and once again 
places Rotherham back in the top quartile.

3.10 Fostering
3.10.1 The recruitment of foster carers is demonstrating improved 

performance. In 2017/18, 17 new foster families were approved 
providing 27 new foster placements. Conversion rate from 
expression of interest to approval has increased from 11% to 16%.

3.10.2 By the end of July 2018 there will have been 6 new foster families 
approved (9 placements) with a further 11 foster families in the 
process of being assessed and two more undertaking the Skills to 
Foster training and likely to be assessed by the end of the year. As 
a result the Fostering Service will surpass last year’s performance. 

3.10.3 There were a further 21 enquiries over the course of June. In recent 
months the recruitment of foster carers is demonstrating improved 
performance.

3.10.4 The launch of Challenge 63 proved to be disappointing but it will be 
re-launched in September.

3.10.5 The Muslim Foster Care Project is about to commence with the first 
meeting being convened in August, and this should support 
recruitment of more foster carers from the Muslim community.  

3.10.6 In total there were 24 resignations and de-registrations of foster 
carers in 2017/18 with a further 8 in 2018/19 to date. Whilst some of 
these resignations can be attributed to unforeseeable 
circumstances including illness and bereavement the Fostering 
Service will review all of these cases to ascertain if there are any 
lessons to be learned

3.11 Adoptions
3.11.1 In total seven children have been adopted in the first three months 

of 2018/19. Performance remains vulnerable to significant swings 
given the cohort is so small. The seven adoptions to date show A1 
performance as 369 days (325.3 Mar 18) and A2 as 201.9 days 
(124.8 Mar 18).

3.11.2 Rotherham’s policy is to persevere in seeking adoptive placements 
for these and all children for as long as it is reasonable to do so. 
Whilst this can impact on performance figures, this practice does 
give the necessary reassurance that the adoption service is ‘doing 

Page 14



Page 7 of 8

the right thing’ by its children by doing everything it can to secure 
permanent family placements for its children. 

3.11.3 Potential performance in respect of adoptions looks strong with at 
least 39 adoptions likely to be achieved over the course of the 
financial year as compared to 27 last year. In addition to the 7 
adoptions achieved there are currently; 
 22 children already living in their adoptive placement (4 of 

whom have a date set for the Adoption Hearing, 6 with their 
application lodged with Court but no date yet set. A further 9 
eligible for lodging having been in placement for more than the 
required 10 weeks and 3 placed for less than 10 weeks),

 10 children with a match identified,
 10 with a potential match, 
 8 further visits organised for the initial meeting with adopters 

who have expressed an interest.

3.12 Caseloads
3.12.1 Taking into account the reduced caseloads of 'Assessed and 

Supported Year in Employment' (ASYE) social workers and 
'Advanced Practitioner' (APs) average caseloads for LAC teams 1-3 
remain at 12.9.

3.12.2 In addition, the audit undertaken in April 18 evidenced that on 
average across the 5 teams 20% of social worker capacity is 'lost' 
by virtue of them having to supervise contact or due to the time 
spent driving to and from out of authority placements. This means 
that in real terms the average caseload for LAC 1-3 is the 
equivalent of 18. More concerning the average caseload for teams 
4-5 is 13 (with a similar 20% uplift for contact and travelling) and 
this is being impacted by the increasing delays in adoptions being 
progressed due to the court more readily agreeing to final appeals 
by birth parents meaning that the throughput of cases is delayed.

4. Options considered and recommended proposal
4.1 The full corporate parenting performance report attached at Appendix A 

represents a summary of performance across a range of key national and 
local indicators with detailed commentary provided by the service director. 
Commissioners are therefore recommended to consider and review this 
information.

5. Consultation
5.1 Not applicable

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision
6.1 Not applicable

Page 15



Page 8 of 8

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications to this report. The relevant 

Service Director and Budget Holder will identify any implications arising 
from associated improvement actions and Members and Commissioners 
will be consulted where appropriate.

8. Legal Implications
8.1 There are no direct legal implications to this report.

9. Human Resources Implications
9.1 There are no direct human resource implications to this report. The 

relevant Service Director and Managers will identify any implications 
arising from associated improvement actions and Members and 
Commissioners will be consulted where appropriate.

10. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
10.1 The performance report relates to services and outcomes for children in 

care.

11.Equalities and Human Rights Implications
11.1 There are no direct implications within this report.

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates
12.1 Partners and other directorates are engaged in improving the performance 

and quality of services to children, young people and their families via the 
Rotherham Local Children’s Safeguarding Board (RLSCB). The RLSCB 
Performance and Quality Assurance Sub Group receive this performance 
report within the wider social care performance report on a regular basis.

13.Risks and Mitigation
13.1 Inability and lack of engagement in performance management 

arrangements by managers and staff could lead to poor and deteriorating 
services for children and young people. Strong management oversight by 
Directorship Leadership Team and the ongoing weekly performance 
meetings mitigate this risk by holding managers and workers to account 
for any dips in performance both at a team and at an individual child level.

14.Accountable Officer(s)
Ian Walker, Head of Service Looked After Children and Care Leavers
ian.walker@rotherham.gov.uk

Ailsa Barr Interim Assistant Director Safeguarding Children
ailsa.barr@rotherham.gov.uk

Page 16



Corporate Parenting
Monthly Performance Report

Document Details
Status: Issue 1
Date Created: 03/08/18
Created by: Deborah Johnson, Performance Assurance Manager ‐ Social Care

Children & Young People Services

Please note: Data reports are not dynamic. Although care is taken to ensure data is as accurate as possible every month, delays in data input can result in changes in figures when 
reports are re-run retrospectively. To combat this at least  two individual months data is rerun for each indicator.

As at Month End: June 2018

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 1 of 12

P
age 17



Performance Summary As at Month End: June 2018
*'DOT' - Direction of travel represents the direction of 'performance' since the previous month with reference to the polarity of 'good' performance for that measure. Colours have been added to help distinguish better and worse performance. Key Below;-

 - improvement in performance / increase in numbers

 - no movement - numbers stable with last month

 - decline in performance, not on target / decrease in numbers

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 YTD
2018/19

DATA 
NOTE

Red Amber Target
Green 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 STAT 

NEIGH AVE
BEST STAT 

NEIGH NAT AVE
NAT TOP 

QTILE 
THRESHOL

6.1 Number of Looked After Children Info Count 625 640 648 - As at mth 
end

 n/a 407 432 488 627

6.2 Rate of Looked After Children per 10,000 population aged under 18 
(Council Plan Indicator) Low Rate per 

10,000 110.4 113.1 114.5 - As at mth 
end  99.1 70 76.6 86.6 110.8 81.3 58.0 62.0 -

6.3 Admissions of Looked After Children Info Count 16 37 19 72 Financial 
Year  n/a 175 208 262 330

6.4 Number of children who have ceased to be Looked After Children High Count 18 22 11 51 Financial 
Year  n/a 160 192 215 194

6.5 Percentage of LAC who have ceased to be looked after due to 
permanence (Special Guardianship Order, Residence Order, Adoption)

High Percentage 22.2% 36.4% 27.3% 29.4% Financial 
Year  <33% 33%> 35%+ 37.5% 40.1% 27.9% 27.3%

6.6 Number of SGOs started (all) High Count 0 4 3 7 Financial 
Year 

6.7 Percentage of LAC who have ceased to be looked after due to a Special 
Guardianship Order

High Percentage 0.0% 13.6% 18.2% 9.8% Financial 
Year  - - 9.8% 8.2% 12.9% 26.0% 12.0% 16.0%

6.8 LAC cases reviewed within timescales High Percentage 85.8% 80.3% 91.7% 85.4% Financial 
Year  <90% 90%> 95%+ 94.9% 83.3% 91.3% 90.6%

6.9 % of children adopted High Percentage 11.1% 13.6% 18.2% 13.7% Financial 
Year

 YTD <20% 20%> 22.7%+ 26.3% 22.4% 14.4% 13.9% 18.9% 30.0% 14.0% 20.0%

6.10 Health of Looked After Children - up to date Health Assessments High Percentage 83.4% 84.9% 83.3% - As at mth 
end  <90% 90%> 95%+ 81.4% 92.8% 89.5% 83.7%

6.11 Health of Looked After Children - up to date Dental Assessments High Percentage 70.8% 65.8% 57.8% - As at mth 
end  <90% 90%> 95%+ 58.8% 95.0% 57.3% 72.5%

6.12 Health of Looked After Children - Initial Health Assessments carried out 
within 20 working days

High Percentage 47.8% 27.3% 44.4% 40.3% Financial 
Year  20.0% 8.4% 18.2% 55.7%

6.13 % of LAC with a PEP High Percentage 95.4% 94.9% 93.3% - As at mth 
end  <90% 90%> 95%+ 76.0% 97.8% 97.0% 93.6%

6.14 % of LAC with up to date PEPs (Report Termly - End Jul, Dec, Mar) High Percentage - - - - As at mth 
end - <90% 90%> 95%+ - - 98.9% (Summer 

2018)

6.15 % of eligible LAC with an up to date plan High Percentage 89.1% 87.4% 90.1% - As at mth 
end  <93% 93%> 95%+ 98.8% 98.4% 79.1% 89.5%

6.16 % LAC visits up to date & completed within timescale of National Minimum 
standard

High Percentage 96.7% 95.1% 94.9% - As at mth 
end  <95% 95%> 98%+ 95.2% 98.1% 74.0% 97.5%

7.1 Number of care leavers Info Count 266 249 247 - As at mth 
end  n/a 183 197 223 256

7.2 % of eligible LAC & Care Leavers with a pathway plan High Percentage 93.7% 96.3% 95.6% - As at mth 
end  <93% 93%> 95%+ - 69.8% 99.3% 93.9%

7.3 % of eligible LAC & Care Leavers with an up to date pathway plan High Percentage 69.1% 80.2% 93.1% - As at mth 
end

 - - - 70.3%

7.4 % of care leavers in suitable accommodation High Percentage 94.0% 95.6% 92.3% - As at mth 
end  <95% 95%> 98%+ 97.8% 96.5% 97.8% 96.1% 91.0% 100.0% 84.0% 91.0%

7.5 % of care leavers in employment, education or training High Percentage 61.7% 64.3% 62.3% - As at mth 
end  <70% 70%> 72%+ 71.0% 68.0% 62.9% 64.1% 52.2% 65.0% 50.0% 57.0%

8.1 % of long term LAC in placements which have been stable for at least 2 
years

High Percentage 62.3% 61.3% 63.3% - As at mth 
end  <68% 68%> 70%+ 71.9% 72.7% 66.2% 61.2% 68.8% 86.0% 68.0% 74.0%

8.2 % of LAC who have had 3 or more placements - rolling 12 months
(Council Plan Indicator) Low Percentage 13.9% 14.0% 12.9% - Rolling 

Year  13%+ 13%< 10.8%< 12.0% 13.0% 11.9% 13.4% 9.2% 6.0% 10.0% 8.0%

8.3 % of LAC in a family Based setting
(Council Plan Indicator) High Percentage 81.4% 81.0% 81.1% - As at mth 

end
 85%> - - 81.1% 81.0%

8.4 % of LAC placed with parents or other with parental responsibility (P1) Low Percentage 4.7% 4.9% 4.7% - As at mth 
end

 - - 5.3% 4.3%

8.5 % of LAC in a Commissioned Placement Low Percentage 50.7% 49.8% 52.2% - As at mth 
end  - 43.6% 43.2% 50.5%

9.1 Number of LAC in a Fostering Placement (excludes family/friend carers) High Count 409 418 427 - As at mth 
end  - - 353 414

9.2 % of LAC in a Fostering Placement  (excludes family/friend carers) High Percentage 65.4% 65.3% 65.9% - As at mth 
end  - - 72.3% 66.0%

9.3 Number of Foster Carers (Households) High Count 154 151 149 - As at mth 
end  - 156 161 154

9.4 Number of Foster Carers Recruited High Count 2 0 1 3 Financial 
Year  - 13 32 16

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

range to be set

FO
ST

ER
IN

G
LO

O
K

ED
 A

FT
ER

 C
H

IL
D

R
EN

C
A

R
E 

LE
A

VE
R

S
PL

A
C

EM
EN

TS

NO. INDICATOR
GOOD 
PERF 

IS

RAG 
(in 

month)

DOT
(Month 

on 
Month)

2018 / 19 LATEST BENCHMARKINGDATA 
NOTE

(Monthly)

Target and Tolerances YR ON YR TREND

Page 2 of 12

P
age 18



*'DOT' - Direction of travel represents the direction of 'performance' since the previous month with reference to the polarity of 'good' performance for that measure. Colours have been added to help distinguish better and worse performance. Key Below;-

 - improvement in performance / increase in numbers

 - no movement - numbers stable with last month

 - decline in performance, not on target / decrease in numbers

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 YTD
2018/19

DATA 
NOTE

Red Amber Target
Green 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 STAT 

NEIGH AVE
BEST STAT 

NEIGH NAT AVE
NAT TOP 

QTILE 
THRESHOL

NO. INDICATOR
GOOD 
PERF 

IS

RAG 
(in 

month)

DOT
(Month 

on 
Month)

2018 / 19 LATEST BENCHMARKINGDATA 
NOTE

(Monthly)

Target and Tolerances YR ON YR TREND

9.5 Number of Foster Carers Deregistered Info Count 2 3 3 8 Financial 
Year  - 16 22 25

10.1 Number of adoptions High Count 2 3 2 7 Financial 
Year  n/a - 43 31 27

10.2 Number of adoptions completed within 12 months of SHOBPA High Count 1 0 2 3 Financial 
Year

 n/a - 23 12 16

10.3 % of adoptions completed within 12 months of SHOBPA High Percentage 50.0% 0.0% 100.0% 42.9% Financial 
Year  <83% 83%> 85%+ 37.0% 53.5% 38.7% 59.3%

10.4 Average number of days between a child becoming Looked After and 
having a adoption placement (A1)

Low YTD 
Average 370.0 469.0 369.0 - Rolling 

Year  511+ 511< 487< 393.0 296.0 404.0 325.3 511.6 337.0 558.0 501.1

10.5 Average number of days between a placement order and being matched 
with an adoptive family (A2)

Low YTD 
Average 146.5 260.2 201.9 - Rolling 

Year  127+ 127< 121< 169 136 232.9 124.8 214.7 73.0 226.0 183.6

11.4 Maximum caseload of social workers in LAC Low Average 
count 22 22 22 - As at mth 

end  21+ 20< 18< - 19.2 17.0 18.0

Average number of cases per qualified social worker in LAC Teams 1-3 Within 
Limits

Average 
count 12.8 12.5 12.9 - As at mth 

end 
over 1% 
above 
range

1% above 
range 14-20 - - - 12.6

Average number of cases per qualified social worker in LAC Teams 4 - 5 Within 
Limits

Average 
count 14.4 12.8 13.5 - As at mth 

end 
over 1% 
above 
range

1% above 
range 14-20 - - - 11.8

range to be set

A
D

O
PT

IO
N

S
C

A
SE

LO
A

D
S

11.5

Page 3 of 12

P
age 19



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 
A

N
A

LY
SI

S

 6.2 6.1 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7

Rate of 
children 

looked after 
per 10K pop

Number of 
LAC

Admissions 
of children 
looked after

No. of 
children 

who have 
ceased to 

be LAC

% of children 
ceased to be 
LAC due to 
permanence

Number of 
SGOs started 

(all)

% of children 
ceased to be 
LAC due to 

an SGO

Jan-18 107.3 607 27 12 16.7% 4 8.3% 81.3

Feb-18 107.8 610 18 15 28.6% 4 7.1% 81.3 610

Mar-18 110.8 627 44 27 34.6% 16 15.4% 81.3 627

Apr-18 110.4 625 16 18 22.2% 0 0.0% 81.3 625

May-18 113.1 640 37 22 36.4% 4 13.6% 81.3 640

Jun-18 114.5 648 19 11 27.3% 3 18.2% 81.3 648

Jul-18 81.3 648

Aug-18 81.3 0

Sep-18 81.3 0

Oct-18 81.3 0

Nov-18 81.3 0

Dec-18 81.3 0

Jan-19 81.3 0

Feb-19 81.3 0

Mar-19 81.3 0
81 3

YTD 2018/19 - - 72 51 29.4% 7 9.8% 81.3
81 3

2014/ 15 70.0 407 175 160 37.5% - - 81.3

2015/ 16 76.6 432 208 192 40.1% - - 81.3

2016/ 17 86.6 488 262 215 27.9% - 9.8% 81.3

2017/ 18 110.8 627 330 194 27.3% 67 8.2% 81.3
81 3

SN AVE 81.3 81.3

BEST SN 58.0 81.3

NAT AVE 62.0 81.3

NAT TOP 
QTILE - 81.3

LA
TE

ST
 

B
EN

C
H

M
A

R
K

IN
G

DEFINITION
Children in care or 'looked after children' are children who have become the responsibility of the local authority. This can happen voluntarily by parents struggling to cope or through an 
intervention by children's services because a child is at risk of significant harm.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

The numbers of Looked After Children (LAC) have continued to increase albeit at a slower rate and the Right Child Right Care (RCRC) work continues to progress, although given many of the 
more straightforward discharges from care have now been achieved it may be that the next spike may not arrive until the late Autumn as originally predicted. 

The number of Care Proceedings agreed via the Public Law Outline (PLO) Panel is also beginning to dip from an average of 19 per month at the start of 2018 to an average of 12 over the course 
of the past 3 months. However, there does appear to be an on-going weakness in gatekeeping at the 'front door' given that 38% of all admissions to care between June 2017 and May 2018 were 
managed by the Duty and Assessment Teams. Of these 127 admissions, 58 were not referred to the PLO panel even on a retrospective basis (45% of the total) and a further 5 were referred to 
Panel where the decision was made not to issue and yet subsequently care orders were obtained without a further referral to Panel. 

There is also significant disparity within the Duty and Assessment Teams, with Team 3 being responsible for 33 admissions over this period but, Teams 1 & 5 being responsible for only 8 and 12 
admissions respectively. As they share duty responsibilities equally it is reasonable to assume they would be responsible for more equal admissions to care. A deeper dive analysis will take place 
to ascertain if this data does in fact evidence some practice issues that may need addressing. 

In addition to this the LAC teams are also, returning home/to extended family members, 27 LAC in addition to those identified as part of the RCRC project. These children are the cases for LAC 4/5 
whereby proceedings have been issued only within the last 12 months and children are being rehabilitated to the care of birth parents or to the care of a family member/friend that had not been 
previously identified prior to or during the proceedings. It is therefore arguable that the continued shortfall of front-loaded viability assessments is also having an impact on the total numbers of 
LAC.         

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

0

10

20

30

40

50

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb

Admissions and discharges from care
Admissions Di

SN Ave

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov
‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

/ 1
5

20
15

/ 1
6

20
16

/ 1
7

20
17

/ 1
8

SN
 A
VE

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND LATEST

Rate of Looked After Children per 10K pop

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Fe

Children Ceased to be LAC (%)
Permanenc

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 4 of 12

P
age 20



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN - REVIEWS, PLANS & VISITS

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 
A

N
A

LY
SI

S

6.14

of LAC with an up 
to date plan

Jan-18 150 of 173 86.7% 89.7% 597 of 608 98.2%

Feb-18 119 of 134 88.8% 90.3% 590 of 607 97.2%

Mar-18 148 of 154 96.1% 89.5% 614 of 630 97.5%

Apr-18 115 of 134 85.8% 89.1% 606 of 627 96.7%

May-18 126 of 157 80.3% 87.4% 606 of 637 95.1%

Jun-18 110 of 120 91.7% 90.1% 611 of 644 94.9%

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

YTD 2018/19 351 of 411 85.4% - -

2014/15 94.9% 98.8% 95.2%

2015/16 83.3% 98.4% 98.1%

2016/17 652 of 714 91.3% 79.1% 462 of 624 74.0%

2017/18 1502 of 1658 90.6% 89.5% 587 of 620 97.5%

6.16

The purpose of LAC review meeting is to consider the plan for the welfare of the looked after child and achieve Permanence for them within a timescale that meets their needs. The 
review is chaired by an Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO)
The LA is also responsible for appointing a representative to visit the child wherever he or she is living to ensure that his/her welfare continues to be safeguarded and promoted. The 
minimum national timescales for visits is within one week of placement, then six weekly until the child has been in placement for a year and the 12 weekly thereafter. Rotherham have 
set a higher standard of within first week then four weekly thereafter until the child has been permanently matched to the placement.

DEFINITION

6.8

The timeliness of Statutory Reviews has rallied significantly improving by more than 11% in one month. This can be attributed to a number of Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) returning 
from sick leave meaning that there has been significantly increased capacity within the IRO Service. 

Performance in respect of Statutory Visits has also declined slightly with long-term sick leave continuing to be an issue that is impacting on performance. There are also 3 social workers 
currently on long-term sick-leave across the LAC Service with one more on a phased return to work and there has been some difficulty in securing appropriately skilled agency social workers to 
back-fill these posts.                                                                                    

The demand for social workers to supervise contact is on-going and this is having a marked impact on many performance indicators. This impact is likely to persist until the numbers of looked 
after children reduce or there is additional resource allocated to the Contact Service. Existing unspent budget has been identified to secure additional sessional contact staff but it is unlikely that 
there will be in post for several weeks yet and so this pressure is likely to continue until the Autumn. This issue is also beginning to have an impact on retention of social workers, especially in 
the Court and Permanence  teams, and there have been some recent cases where social workers have stated they are actively seeking alternative employment as they can not manage the 
competing demands of contact supervision and Court report filing deadlines.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

% of LAC cases 
reviewed within 

timescales

% LAC visits up 
to date & 

complete within 
timescale of 

National 
Minimum 
standard

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18
/1
9

20
14
/1
5

20
15
/1
6

20
16
/1
7

20
17
/1
8

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND

% of LAC cases reviewed within timescales

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14
/1
5

20
15
/1
6

20
16
/1
7

20
17
/1
8

% LAC visits up to date & complete within timescale of National Minimum standard

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND

LAC with an up to date plan

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 5 of 12

P
age 21



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN - HEALTH

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 
A

N
A

LY
SI

S

6.10 6.11

of

Health of LAC - 
Health 

Assessments 
up to date

Health of LAC - 
Dental 

Assessments 
up to date

Health of LAC - 
% Initial Health 
Assessments In 

Time

Jan-18 82.9% 81.5% 9 of 18 50.0%

Feb-18 83.7% 77.8% 6 of 19 31.6%

Mar-18 83.7% 72.5% 10 of 18 55.6%

Apr-18 83.4% 70.8% 11 of 23 47.8%

May-18 84.9% 65.8% 6 of 22 27.3%

Jun-18 83.3% 57.8% 12 of 27 44.4%

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

YTD 2018 / 19 - - 29 of 72 40.3%

2014 / 15 81.4% 58.8% #### of #### 20.0%

2015 / 16 92.8% 95.0% #### of #### 8.4%

2016 / 17 89.5% 57.3% #### #### 18.2%

2017 / 18 83.7% 72.5% 132 of 237 55.7%

SN AVE

BEST SN

NAT AVE

NAT TOP 
QTILE

LA
TE

ST
 

B
EN

C
H

M
A

R
K

IN
G

DEFINITION
Local authorities have a duty to safeguard and to promote the welfare of the children they look after, therefore the local authority should make arrangements to ensure that every child who is 
looked after has his/her health needs fully assessed and a health plan clearly set out.

Once again the ostensibly declining performance can be attributed to delayed inputting onto the Liquid Logic case file as the LAC health team are reporting performance of 86% in respect of HNAs. 

Giving the LAC Health Team the facility to update Liquid Logic would resolve this delay and this is part of the Liquid Logic work plan and this is on  the 'jobs list' for the Liquid Logic Team.  In order to 
address the on-going poor performance of IHAs achieved by the Duty and Assessment and Locality teams a joint agency process preview is being convened by the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on 
the 7th August to clarify what the issues are that are impeding performance and to develop a further action plan.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

Health of LAC - 
No. Initial 

Health 
Assessments In 

Time

6.12

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18

 / 
19

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND

Health of LAC ‐ % Initial Health Assessments In Time

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND

Health of LAC ‐ Health Assessments up to date

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND

Health of LAC ‐ Dental Assessments up to date

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 6 of 12

P
age 22



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN - PERSONAL EDUCATION PLANS
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

A
N

A
LY

SI
S

of

% LAC with a 
Personal 

Education 
Plan

Jan-18 446 of 476 93.7% -

Feb-18 446 of 477 93.5% -

Mar-18 454 of 485 93.6% 95.0% (Spring Term) Spring 
Term

Apr-18 461 of 483 95.4% -

May-18 465 of 490 94.9% -

Jun-18 461 of 494 93.3% -

Jul-18 (Summer Term) Summer
Apr - Jul

Aug-18 -

Sep-18 -

Oct-18 -

Nov-18 -

Dec-18 (Autumn Term) Autumn 
Term

Jan-19 -

Feb-19 -

Mar-19 (Spring Term) Spring 
Term

YTD 2018/19 - - -

2014/15 76.0% -

2015/16 97.8% -

2016/17 324 of 334 97.0% 98.9% (Summer 2017)

2017/18 454 of 485 93.6% (Summer 
2018) (Summer 2018)

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

DEFINITION
A personal education plan (PEP) is a school based meeting to plan for the education of a child in care. The government have made PEPs a statutory requirement for children in 
care to help track and promote their achievements.
Prior to September 2015 PEPs were in place for compulsory school-age children only. PEPs are now in place for LAC aged two to their 18th birthday. 

Number of 
Eligible LAC 

with a 
Personal 

Education 
Plan

6.13

There is no current indication that termly performance in respect of PEP's will not achieve at least the 95% of last term although the biggest risk to this remains the number of children admitted to care too late 
in the term to arrange the PEP meeting.

6.14

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

% LAC with up to date 
Personal Education 

Plan
(Termly)

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND

% LAC with a Personal Education Plan

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Spring Term
Jan ‐ Mar 18

Summer
Apr ‐ Jul 18

Autumn Term
Sep ‐ Dec 18

Spring Term
Jan ‐ Mar 19

% LAC with up to date PEP

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 7 of 12

P
age 23



CARE LEAVERS
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

A
N

A
LY

SI
S

7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5

Number of 
care leavers

% of eligible 
Care Leavers 

with a 
pathway plan

% of eligible 
Care Leavers 

with up to 
date pathway 

plan

% of care 
leavers in 
suitable 

accommodatio
n

% of care 
leavers in 

employment, 
education or 

training

Jan-18 238 94.5% 59.5% 95.6% 57.9% 91.0% 52.2%

Feb-18 246 93.9% 66.7% 99.2% 60.9% 91.0% 52.2%

Mar-18 256 93.9% 70.3% 96.1% 64.1% 91.0% 52.2%

Apr-18 266 93.7% 69.1% 94.0% 61.7% 91.0% 52.2%

May-18 249 96.3% 80.2% 95.6% 64.3% 91.0% 52.2%

Jun-18 247 95.6% 93.1% 92.3% 62.3% 91.0% 52.2%

Jul-18 91.0% 52.2%

Aug-18 91.0% 52.2%

Sep-18 91.0% 52.2%

Oct-18 91.0% 52.2%

Nov-18 91.0% 52.2%

Dec-18 91.0% 52.2%

Jan-19 91.0% 52.2%

Feb-19 91.0% 52.2%

Mar-19 91.0% 52.2%
91 0% 52 2%

YTD 2018/19 - - - - - 91.0% 52.2%
91 0% 52 2%

2014/15 183 - - 97.8% 71.0% 91.0% 52.2%

2015/16 197 69.8% - 96.5% 68.0% 91.0% 52.2%

2016/17 223 99.3% - 97.8% 62.9% 91.0% 52.2%

2017/18 256 93.9% 70.3% 96.1% 64.1% 91.0% 52.2%
91 0% 52 2%

SN AVE 91.0% 52.2% 91.0% 52.2%

BEST SN 100.0% 65.0% 91.0% 52.2%

NAT AVE 84.0% 50.0% 91.0% 52.2%

NAT TOP 
QTILE 91.0% 57.0% 91.0% 52.2%

LA
TE

ST
 

B
EN

C
H

M
A

R
K

IN
G

DEFINITION A care leaver is defined as a person aged 25 or under, who has been looked after away from home by a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who was looked after away from home by the local 
authority at school-leaving age or after that date.  Suitable accommodation is defined as any that is not prison or bed and breakfast. 

Performance in all of the indicators remains strong and varies according to the circumstances for individual young people some of whom can experience periods of crisis that impact on their ability to sustain their accommodation or 
access to EET.

There is, however, a potential risk to future performance in that as from April 1st, Leaving Care Services have the statutory duty as set down in the Children and Social Work act 2017, to offer support to care leavers up to the age of 25. 
This is likely to have an impact on capacity within the team although plans are being formulated in order to mitigate this impact.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D SN Ave

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

N
AT

 A
VE

N
AT

 T
O
P

Q
TI
LE

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND LATEST BENCHMARKING

% of care leavers in employment, education or training

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE

% of eligible LAC with up to date pathway plan

SN Ave

50%

70%

90%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

N
AT

 A
VE

N
AT

 T
O
P

Q
TI
LE

% of care leavers in suitable accommodation

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 8 of 12

P
age 24



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN - PLACEMENTS
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

A
N

A
LY

SI
S

8.3 8.4

of

% of LAC in a 
family Based 

setting (includes 
living with 
parents)

% of LAC placed 
with parents or 

other with 
parental 

responsibility 
(P1)

Jan-18 93 of 153 60.8% 73 of 600 12.2% 82.4% 5.5% 293 of 607 48.3% 0.7 9.2%

Feb-18 91 of 151 60.3% 81 of 605 13.4% 81.5% 5.0% 302 of 610 49.5% 0.7 9.2%

Mar-18 90 of 147 61.2% 83 of 621 13.4% 81.0% 4.3% 315 of 627 50.2% 0.7 9.2%

Apr-18 91 of 146 62.3% 86 of 617 13.9% 81.4% 4.7% 317 of 625 50.7% 0.7 9.2%

May-18 92 of 150 61.3% 89 of 636 14.0% 81.0% 4.9% 319 of 640 49.8% 0.7 9.2%

Jun-18 95 of 150 63.3% 83 of 643 12.9% 81.1% 4.7% 338 of 648 52.2% 0.7 9.2%

Jul-18 0.7 9.2%

Aug-18 0.7 9.2%

Sep-18 0.7 9.2%

Oct-18 0.7 9.2%

Nov-18 0.7 9.2%

Dec-18 0.7 9.2%

Jan-19 0.7 9.2%

Feb-19 0.7 9.2%

Mar-19 0.7 9.2%
0 7 9 2%

YTD 2018 / 19 - - - - - 0.7 9.2%
0 7 9 2%

2014 / 15 110 of 153 71.9% 49 of 409 12.0% - - - 0.7 9.2%

2015 / 16 109 of 150 72.7% 56 of 431 13.0% - - 188 of 431 43.6% 0.7 9.2%

2016 / 17 96 of 145 66.2% 58 of 488 11.9% 81.1% 5.3% 211 of 488 43.2% 0.7 9.2%

2017 / 18 90 of 147 61.2% 83 of 621 13.4% 81.0% 4.3% 315 of 624 50.5% 0.7 9.2%
0 7 9 2%

SN AVE 68.8% 9.2% 0.7 9.2%

BEST SN 86.0% 6.0% 0.7 9.2%

NAT AVE 68.0% 10.0% 0.7 9.2%

NAT TOP 
QTILE 74.0% 8.0% 0.7 9.2%

LA
TE

ST
 

B
EN

C
H

M
A

R
K

IN
G

A LAC placement is where a child has become the responsibility of the local authority (LAC) and is placed with foster carers, in residential homes or with parents or other relatives. DEFINITION

8.1 8.2

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

Placement stability has increased in both measures (although reduced in real number terms for those young people with 3 or more placement moves) and despite the numbers of LAC increasing from 603 at the end of January to 
648 at the end of June, the percentage of children in family based settings has remained extremely constant which is credit to the service as a whole and the Placements and Commissioning Team in particular. The LAC/Leaving 
Care Teams are implementing a 'Closer to Home' project whereby 19 LAC in Out of Authority (OoA) placements are being stepped down on a planned basis to independent/semi independent living arrangements. 

The first audit of the impact of the Intensive Intervention Programme (IIP) has been completed which evidences that whilst 14 LAC had 2 or more placement moves prior to them accessing the IIP this has reduced to 4 young 
people since the IIP intervention. Similarly the numbers going missing from care has reduced from 7 to 3. A full review of the programme has been completed will be presented to DLT in late July and then disseminated for wider 
consideration.

8.5

LAC who have had 
3 or more 

placements - 
rolling 12 mth

Long term LAC 
placements stable 
for at least 2 years

LAC in a 
Commissioned 

Placement
(Fostering & 
Residential)

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

SN Ave

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

20
17

 / 
18

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

N
AT

 A
VE

N
AT

 T
O
P 
Q
TI
LE

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND LATEST BENCHMARKING

% long term LAC placements stable for at least 2 years

SN Ave

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%
Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18

 / 
19

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

20
17

 / 
18

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND LATEST BENC

% LAC who have had 3 or more placements ‐ rolling 12 months

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 9 of 12

P
age 25



FOSTERING
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

A
N

A
LY

SI
S

9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5

Number of 
LAC in a 
Fostering 
Placement 
(excludes 

relative/friend)

% of total 
LAC in a 
Fostering 
Placement
(excludes 

relative/friend)

Number of 
Foster 
Carers 

(Households)

Number of 
Foster 
Carers 

Recruited 
(Households)

Number of 
Foster 

Carers De-
registered 

(Households)

Jan-18 398 65.6% 157 0 2

Feb-18 399 65.4% 155 1 3

Mar-18 414 66.0% 154 1 2

Apr-18 409 65.4% 154 2 2

May-18 418 65.3% 151 0 3 406

Jun-18 427 65.9% 149 1 3 416

Jul-18 427

Aug-18 0

Sep-18 0

Oct-18 0

Nov-18 0

Dec-18 0

Jan-19 0

Feb-19 0

Mar-19 0

YTD 2018/19 - - - 3 8
#### #REF!

2014/15 - - - - -

2015/16 - - 156 13 16

2016/17 353 72.3% 161 32 22

2017/18 414 66.0% 154 16 25

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D
DEFINITION

A foster care family provide the best form of care for most Looked after children. Rotherham would like most of its children to be looked after by its own  carers so that they remain part of their families 
and community .

The recruitment of foster carers is demonstrating improved performance. In 2017/18, 17 new foster families were approved providing 27 new foster placements. Conversion rate from expression of interest to 
approval has increased from 11% to 16%.

By the end of July 2018 there will have been 6 new foster families approved providing a possible 9 new placements with a further 11 foster families in the process of being assessed and two more undertaking the 
Skills to Foster training and likely to be assessed by the end of the year. As a result it is likely that by December 19 new foster families will have been approved so far this financial year as compared to 17 for the 
whole of the previous financial year.                                                                                               

The launch of Challenge 63 proved to be a disappointment but it will be re-launched in September. The Muslim Foster Care Project is about to commence with the first meeting being convened in August and this 
should support recruitment of more foster carers from the Muslim community.  

Of the 3 de-registered foster carers none had offered a placement for at least the previous 6 months and one was only a families Together foster carer.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

0

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE

Fostering Recruitment & De‐registrations Recruited De‐registered

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov

‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE ANNUAL TREND

Number of Foster Carers

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 10 of 12

P
age 26



ADOPTIONS

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 
A

N
A

LY
SI

S

Data Note: Taken from manual tracker. Data requires inputting into LCS

10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5

Number of 
adoptions

Number of 
adoptions 
completed 
within 12 
months of 
SHOBPA

% adoptions 
completed 
within 12 
months of 
SHOBPA

Av. No. days 
between a child 

becoming LAC & 
having a 
adoption 

placement (A1)
(ytd. ave)

Av. No. days 
between 

placement order 
& being matched 

with adoptive 
family (A2)
(ytd. ave)

Jan-18 0 0 - 315.0 137.0 511.6 214.7

Feb-18 2 1 50.0% 311.9 134.9 511.6 214.7

Mar-18 5 4 80.0% 325.3 124.8 511.6 214.7

Apr-18 2 1 50.0% 370.0 146.5 511.6 214.7

May-18 3 0 0.0% 469.0 260.2 511.6 214.7

Jun-18 2 2 100.0% 369.0 201.9 511.6 214.7

Jul-18 511.6 214.7

Aug-18 511.6 214.7

Sep-18 511.6 214.7

Oct-18 511.6 214.7

Nov-18 511.6 214.7

Dec-18 511.6 214.7

Jan-19 511.6 214.7

Feb-19 511.6 214.7

Mar-19 511.6 214.7
511 6 214 7

YTD 2018 / 19 7 3 42.9% - - 511.6 214.7
0 0% 511 6 214 7

2014 / 15 - - 37.0% 393.0 169.0 511.6 214.7

2015 / 16 43 23 53.5% 296.0 136.0 511.6 214.7

2016 / 17 31 12 38.7% 404.0 232.9 511.6 214.7

2017 / 18 27 16 59.3% 325.3 124.8 511.6 214.7
511 6 214 7

SN AVE 511.6 214.7 511.6 214.7

BEST SN 337.0 73.0 511.6 214.7

NAT AVE 558.0 226.0 511.6 214.7

NAT TOP 
QTILE 501.1 183.6 511.6 214.7

*Annual Trend relates to current reporting year April to Mar ‐ not rolling year
**adoptions have a 28 day appeal period so any children adopted in the last 28 days are still subject to appeal

LA
TE

ST
 

B
EN

C
H

M
A

R
K

IN
G

DEFINITION

Following a child becoming a LAC, it may be deemed suitable for a child to become adopted which is a legal process of becoming a non-biological parent. The date it is agreed that it is in the best interests of the child that they 
should be placed for adoption is known as their 'SHOBPA'. Following this a family finding process is undertaken to find a suitable match for the child based on the child's needs, they will then be matched with an adopter(s) 
followed by placement with their adopter(s). This adoption placement is monitored for a minimum of 10 weeks and assessed as stable and secure before the final adoption order is granted by court decision and the adoption 
order is made .
Targets for measures A1 and A2 are set centrally by government office. 

As identified last month the Scorecard performance remains vulnerable to significant swings given the cohort is so small and the 7 adoptions achieved thus far have had such an impact with the A1 performance declining from an average 
of 370 days to 469 days and then rising back to 369 days and the A2 from 146 to 260 and then back to 201.

As stated previously, potential performance in respect of adoptions also looks strong with at least 39 adoptions looking likely to be achieved over the course of the financial year as compared to 27 last year. In addition to the 7 adoptions 
achieved there are currently; 
- 22 children already living in their adoptive placement (4 of whom have a date set for the Adoption Hearing, 6 with their application lodged with Court but no date yet set. A further 9 eligible for lodging having been in placement for more 
than the required 10 weeks and 3 placed for less than 10 weeks),
- 10 children with a match identified,
- 10 with a potential match, 
- 8 further visits organised for the initial meeting with adopters who have expressed an interest.

There have been 3 sets of adoptive parents fully approved so far this year with 12 more at stage 1 and 7 at stage 2 and so once again last year's performance looks likely to be surpassed.

IN
 M

O
N

TH
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D

SN Ave

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov
‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18

 / 
19

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

20
17

 / 
18

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

N
AT

 A
VE

N
AT

 T
O
P

Q
TI
LE

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND LATEST BENCHMARKING

Av. No. days between placement order & being matched with adoptive family (A2) ‐ Rolling Year (low is good)

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov
‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18

 / 
19

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

20
17

 / 
18

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND

% adoptions completed within 12 months of SHOBPA

SN Ave

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

Ap
r‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Ju
n‐
18

Ju
l‐1

8

Au
g‐
18

Se
p‐
18

O
ct
‐1
8

N
ov
‐1
8

De
c‐
18

Ja
n‐
19

Fe
b‐
19

M
ar
‐1
9

20
18

 / 
19

20
14

 / 
15

20
15

 / 
16

20
16

 / 
17

20
17

 / 
18

SN
 A
VE

BE
ST
 S
N

N
AT

 A
VE

N
AT

 T
O
P

Q
TI
LE

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE YTD ANNUAL TREND LATEST BENCHMARKING

Av. No. days between a child becoming LAC & having a adoption placement (A1) ‐ Rolling Year (low is good)

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 11 of 12

P
age 27



CASELOADS

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
A

N
A

LY
SI

S

11.3

of

Teams 
1-3

Teams 
4 & 5

Jan-18 17 11.6 9.7

Feb-18 17 12.9 10.7

Mar-18 18 12.6 11.8

Apr-18 22 12.8 14.4

May-18 22 12.5 12.8

Jun-18 22 12.9 13.5

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

YTD 2018/19 - - -

2014/15 -

2015/16 19

2016/17 17

2017 / 18 18 12.6 11.8A
N

N
U

A
L 

TR
EN

D
Caseload figures relate to the number of children the social worker is currently the lead key worker. Fieldwork teams relate to frontline social care services including the four Duty 
Teams, none Long Term CIN Teams, two LAC teams and the CSE Team. All averages are calculated on a full time equivalency basis, based on the number of hours the worker is 
contracted to work.

DEFINITION
IN

 M
O

N
TH

 P
ER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E

Taking into account the reduced caseloads of 'Assessed and Supported Year in Employment' (ASYE) social workers and 'Advanced Practitioner' (APs)  average caseloads for LAC teams 1-3 
remain at 12.9. In addition to this there are currently 3 social workers on long-term sick leave (2 due to a family bereavement) and one on a phased return to work for whom no back-fill has 
been secured as yet. Another is about to go on long-term sick leave due to a planned operation and this is all impacting on workloads across the service. 

In addition, the audit undertaken in April 18 evidenced that on average across the 5 teams 20% of social worker capacity is 'lost' by virtue of them having to supervise contact or due to the time 
spent driving to and from out of authority placements. This means that in real terms the average caseload for LAC 1-3 is the equivalent of 18. More concerning the average caseload for teams 
4-5 is 13 (with a similar 20% uplift for contact and travelling) and this is being impacted by the increasing delays in adoptions being progressed due to the court more readily agreeing to final 
appeals by birth parents meaning that the throughput of cases is delayed.

Av. no. cases in LAC 
Teams

Maximum 
caseload 
of social 
workers 
in LAC 
Teams

11.4

14.1

-

11.6

0

5

10

15

20

25

Jan‐18 Feb‐18 Mar‐18 Apr‐18 May‐18 Jun‐18 Jul‐18 Aug‐18 Sep‐18 Oct‐18 Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19 2017 / 18

IN MONTH PERFORMANCE

Average number of cases per team
LAC Teams 1‐3 LAC Teams 4 & 5

Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1.xlsx 12 of 12

P
age 28



27 June 2018

Mel Meggs 
Deputy Strategic Director 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
Riverside House 
Main Street 
Rotherham  
S60 1AE 

North East Yorkshire and Humber 
CorrespondenceNorthEastYH@ofsted.gov.uk

Dear Ms Meggs 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Councils post inspection action plan

Thank you for your post inspection action plan dated May 2018. We have reviewed 
this and find the local authority plan to be clear in what it needs to do, by when and 
how.  

You may wish to consider the following points as part of your action planning:

Action 1. How you will monitor the effectiveness of challenge by IROs and child 
protection chairs.

Action 6. The role of the corporate parenting panel in monitoring and challenging 
schools to reduce the number of fixed-term exclusions of children looked after, as well 
as reducing the number of these children who are persistent absentees from 
education.

Ofsted will take the findings from this inspection into account when planning your 
next inspection or visit.

Yours sincerely

Katrina Gueli 
Senior Operational Lead (Senior HMI), North East, Yorkshire and Humber

Foss House
Kings Pool
1-2 Peasholme Green
York
YO1 7PX

T 0300 123 1231
Textphone 0161 618 8524
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

Page 29 Agenda Item 9

mailto:CorrespondenceNorthEastYH@ofsted.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/


Public/Private Report
Council/or Other Formal Meeting

Summary Sheet

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting – Corporate Parenting Panel 

Report Title
Intensive Intervention programme (IIP): Pilot Phase Report 

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Mel Meggs

Report Author(s)
Dr Sara Whittaker, Dr. Hayley Wright, Anne-Marie Banks, & Ian Walker

Ward(s) Affected
All wards

Summary
The Intensive Intervention Programme (I.I.P.) has developed during the past year as 
part of the RMBC CYPS Therapeutic Team.  Over 30 looked after children and 
young people (LAC) have been supported through this programme including young 
children who have faced multiple placement breakdowns, teenage young women at 
risk of Childhood Sexual Abuse and Exploitation, and young people who have 
histories of complex developmental, familial trauma who need lengthy packages of 
therapy. Initial outcomes suggest the IIP promotes placement stability, delivers carer 
and staff support and training, and delivers complex psychological and therapeutic 
interventions in an acceptable, bespoke and finely tuned approach, within a standard 
protocol.  Feedback from carers and colleagues within the networks is positive.  

Ofsted also noted the impact of the team during the Inspection undertaken in 
November 2017 and highlighted it as an ‘Annexe O’ (Outstanding Practice).  

As a result the impact of this programme on outcomes for some of the most 
challenging and high need looked after young people is beginning to be clearly 
evidenced. In addition it is reasonable to assume that increased placement stability 
will have a positive impact on the demand for out of authority placements and 
therefore contribute to reduced budget pressures.

Page 30 Agenda Item 10



However, despite these positive impacts there is a risk to the sustainability of the 
programme given that funding was only agreed for the IIP within the MTFS for 3 
years and is therefore due to end on 31 March 2020.      

Recommendations
DLT is recommended to note the contents of this report and the positive impact that 
IIP is having on the outcomes achieved by the LAC who have been able to access it.  
Evaluation and corresponding reports will be produced on a 6 monthly basis from 1 
April 2018.  
DLT is also recommended to consider if/how to create a secure funding stream for 
the Intensive Intervention Programme to be continued given that, as funding was 
originally only agreed until 31 March 2020, some staff are on fixed term and 
temporary contracts.  

List of Appendices Included
appendix 1: IIP protocol, 19.9.2017 
appendix 2: Initial pilot service evaluation, September 2017
appendix 3: Report up to 31.03.2018.  

Background Papers
Original paper to DLT & cabinet.  

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No 

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 31



Intensive Intervention programme (IIP): Pilot Phase Report 

1. Recommendations 
DLT is recommended to note the contents of this report and the positive impact 
that IIP is having on the outcomes achieved by the LAC who have been able to 
access it.  Evaluation and corresponding reports will be produced on a 6 
monthly basis from 1 April 2018.  
DLT is also recommended to consider if/how to create a secure funding stream 
for the Intensive Intervention Programme to be continued given that, as funding 
was originally only agreed until 31 March 2020, some staff are on fixed term 
and temporary contracts.  

2. Background

2.1 The South Yorkshire Empower and Protect project (SYEP) was closed down 
after a period of working with young people who were at risk of child sexual 
exploitation/abuse or going missing from home or from care, and worked with 
their carers and networks.  This project was also designed to have a longer 
term legacy impact in terms of positively affecting social work practice and as a 
result the IIP was developed to offer an intensive package to some of the most 
vulnerable LAC.  An intensive intervention programme was therefore devised 
which drew on best practice, using a model where support for up to a day a 
week could be offered to the network around a young person for three months, 
followed by up to 4 hours a week for up to 6 months, and then 2 hours a week 
for the final 3 months.  The package involves whole system, therapeutic 
network meetings, consultation and training to the whole system working with a 
LAC as well as direct therapeutic training to carers and direct therapy to carer 
and child. Each network has one therapist is attached to the network, carers 
and young person and they act as both therapeutic care manager and 
therapist.  

2.2 Direct therapies draw on trauma and attachment models, including Dan 
Hughes’ dyadic developmental psychotherapy (DDP), Theraplay, creative 
therapies, the Anna Freud centre’s mentalisation model, play & family therapy, 
and Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing (EMDR). 

2.3 Therapeutic Network meetings draw on systemic thinking to ensure all 
colleagues share understanding and ways of working.  Network meetings use 
psychological formulation to link the past to the present, and to look at fresh 
understandings and new interventions to support children in placement and in 
school. Staff Clinical Supervision is provided by Dr Donna Fisher and Dr Sara 
Whittaker with specialist supervision and external clinical supervision and 
training being sought as required.; 

2.4   The Therapeutic Team continue to offer consultation and therapy to all LAC. 
Following a basic intervention, children at risk of further placement breakdown 
can be referred to IIP.  Furthermore a statistical screening protocol has been 
developed whereby number of placement moves, high scoring strengths & 
difficulties questionnaires (SDQs) , identified risk  factors including CSE/going 

Page 32



missing, and age are considered to generate statistical RMBC CYPS referrals 
each month. It was this pre-emptive approach to identifying the need for a 
therapeutic intervention to achieve increased placement stability that was 
identified by Ofsted as being an ‘Annexe O’ – recognised outstanding practice.

    
2.5 The key aim of IIP is to reduce the emotional trauma inflicted on children in 

care who face multiple ongoing placement moves.  Many indicators show 
poorer outcomes when children have higher numbers of moves. This includes 
their educational outcomes as identified in the Rees Report “The Educational 
Progress of looked After Children.”  The programme aims to take the children at 
risk of further placement moves and to work intensively with the team/network 
around the child, and in particular the carers to minimise risk of further moves.

  
2.6 More specifically the overall aims of the programme are:

 To stabilise and support placements of challenging young people at high 
risk of placement breakdown. (Prevent moves /reduce the number of 
moves in a 12 month period).  

 To foster a therapeutic and psychologically informed understanding of 
the young people, including developing an understanding of how their 
previous experience impacts on their current challenging behaviour in 
order to develop effective strategies for managing these. (A shared 
formulation is created and shared in network meetings).

 To deliver effective therapeutic interventions which result in improved 
outcome measures (Carer and school rated SDQ scores improve during 
the IIP). 
 

2.7 As young people experience more placement disruptions it becomes 
increasingly difficult to secure them family based care arrangements especially 
given the market is becoming  saturated as a result of the increase in numbers 
of LAC across the UK. As a result it is the experience of a significant number of 
young people for them to migrate towards Out of Authority residential 
placements simply because they have exhausted all viable family based 
options. It is therefore reasonable to anticipate that the IIP will be able to 
evidence some achieved cost avoidance being achieved by successfully 
maintaining young people within their existing foster placement. The team are 
working with both the Commissioning and Performance teams to monitor 
outcome measures in relation to psychological wellbeing and placement 
stability and monitor placement and other costs to demonstrate cost effective 
therapeutic interventions. The team will follow up outcome data following the 
one year intensive intervention programme ending by monitoring placement 
activity and wellbeing over the next two years.  

3. Key Issues

3.1 The IIP is able to evidence a positive impact on the placement stability and 
emotional wellbeing of the young people involved in the project. The 
appendices contain two summary reports of the activity and outcomes achieved 
thus far by the team. 

Page 33



3.2   The pilot phase of five cases finished in March 2018, with some further cases 
which started later due to complete in October 2018.  Evaluation of the 
successes and limitations of the service are being reviewed and changes to the 
protocol being agreed to further the effectiveness of the work moving forward.  

 
3.3  However, despite these improved outcomes, the external validation of the 

project from Ofsted and the positive financial impact the project is achieving 
there is a risk that these benefits will only be short-lived given the time limited 
funding that is currently available. 

4. Options considered and recommended proposal

4.1 DLT is recommended to support the continued implementation of the Intensive 
Intervention Programme for the more vulnerable LAC and to continue to 
monitor selection, intervention and effectiveness of the service and its 
outcomes. This will be supported by the Rotherham Therapeutic Team 
providing DLT with an annual report detailing the number of young people 
supported, the interventions provided, the outcomes achieved and any cost 
avoidance that can be evidenced. 

4.2 DLT is further recommended to consider whether there is an argument for 
securing funding to extend the IIP project for a further three years from 1 April 
2020.

4.3   The only other option to be considered would be to allow the project to wind 
down as from April 2020, allow all fixed term and temporary contracts to come 
to an end and to return permanent employees to their substantive posts within 
the RTT    

5. Consultation

5.1 There has been ongoing consultation with referrers, and service users including 
carers & young people.  This data is included within the Appendix 3.  Feedback 
has broadly been positive and some feedback recommends the service as one 
of the best they have experienced.  However, there have been some carers 
who have been reluctant to engage in the therapeutic work and engagement 
was further limited by placement moves.  

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 If DLT agree that further funding should be provided to sustain the project as 
from  April 2020 onwards, the funding would need to be identified and allocated 
to IIP as part of the Therapeutic Team.  This would be decided and actioned 
within the Finance Team.  

6.2  Ian Walker & Anne-Marie Banks to oversee the work of the Therapeutic Team 
and IIP, in consultation with Team Manager Dr Sara Whittaker, to continue to 
monitor effectiveness and positive outcomes.  

Page 34



7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 Finances are committed to the IIP and the TT within the existing budget until 
31st March 2020. .The budget for 2020/21 onwards will be found from a 
realignment of existing Children’s Services budgets.

 
7.2 Ongoing financial monitoring will be undertaken in order to evidence the Invest 

to Save effectiveness of the project by virtue of diverting the most high risk 
young people from Out of Authority high cost residential placements.

8. Legal Implications

8.1 The work undertaken by the IIP assists the Council in complying with the 
statutory duties it has in relation to looked after children, including the general 
duty under section 22 of the Children Act 1989 to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of looked after children.

9.     Human Resources Implications

9.1 The Rotherham Therapeutic Team has 2.5 full time equivalent posts for LAC, 3 
wte for IIP, 3 wte for post adoption and SGO support, 1.5 wte for in-house ASF 
therapeutic work for post adoption and SGO families, 2 f.t.e. business support 
staff, one consultant clinical psychologist as clinical lead and team manager, 
and 4 trainee psychologists/therapists/social workers.  Initially a contract worker 
(AT) was employed to offer therapeutic interventions to the young women 
discharged from the SYEP programme. 

 
9.2 The IIP has been staffed with experienced therapists/clinicians – one full time 

clinical psychologist (split into two part time posts) seconded from Sheffield 
Health & Social Care Trust.  The other two posts are split between 3 part time 
workers employed directly by RMBC (0.8, 0.6 & 0.5 fte).  

9.3 If further funding cannot be secured these posts will need to be considered, 
notice served and redeployment considered.  The secondment/contracting 
between RMBC and SHSCT will need notice to be served.

9.4 Where an extension is approved then the contract arrangements may need to 
be reviewed with SHSCT.  

10.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 The IIP provides a high level of therapeutic intervention to the young LAC who 
most need support following initial interventions and support.  The intervention 
promotes wellbeing and placement stability, addresses past trauma, promotes 
secure attachments and embeds skills within the network of carers and other 
professionals to assist this. The enhanced skills that all professionals and 
carers develop as part of this programme are also likely to benefit other looked 
after young people who will be supported into greater placement stability due to 
a more competent caring network. .  

Page 35



11     Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 There will be more demand than we can meet and therefore careful statistical 
and other monitoring is undertaken to ensure the most needy and most 
receptive placements are offered the IIP for up to 12 months.  

12.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 The closure/reduction of the IIP could lead to placements failing, breaking down 
and children being moved outside of South Yorkshire.  Complex children with a 
history of placement breakdown can be difficult to place in foster families and 
we have had several children considered for residential provision at young age 
(below 12).  IIP may offer a robust service to enable carers to care for a young 
person in their own home.  The strength of programmes like the Mockingbird 
may be enhanced by the IIP, and over time the CYPS workforce will be skilled 
to use a wider range of therapeutic approaches which will enhance social work 
practices.    

13. Risks and Mitigation

13.1 The main risk is the temporary Financial insecurity into the year 2019/2020 – 
plan to address with RMBC at the earliest time.  

14. Accountable Officer(s)
Ian Walker.  

Approvals Obtained from:-

Named Officer Date
Strategic Director of Finance 
& Customer Services

Colin Allen

Assistant Director of 
Legal Services

Neil Concannon

Head of Procurement 
(if appropriate)
Head of Human Resources 
(if appropriate)

Ian Henderson,
 Amy Leech,
Rebecca McAlister 
(secondment)

Report Author: Dr Sara Whittaker, Therapeutic Team Manager.  

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:-

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 36

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


Appendix 1 : IIP Protocol

Rotherham Therapeutic Team (RTT) Intensive Intervention Programme (IIP) 
April 2018

1. Background to IIP

RMBC’s IIP has been developed by the Rotherham Therapeutic Team (RTT).  IIP 
aims are to offer ‘wrap-around’  support for  children, young people and foster 
placements where severe and multiple vulnerability are identified, are causing 
difficulties for the child/young person and are impacting on the stability of the 
placement. The support is initially intensive but reduces until the risk to placement 
breakdown is reduced. Outcomes measures are used to monitor the progress of the 
programme and to review.

The IIP is evidence based; informed by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence –
NICE- guidelines on attachment and looked after children, and research in other 
areas such as youth offending and edge of care (Flint et al 2011).  Research on 
children in care shows that the stability of a foster placement is pivotal to a 
child/young person’s journey of recovery from early neglect and trauma (Schofield & 
Beek 2014; Munro & Hardy 2006). Unstable placements and many moves within the 
care system are closely associated with poorer mental health outcomes and 
behavioural problems (Sinclair, 2005). As adults, these children may have poorer 
employment and education outcomes, and involvement with the criminal justice 
sector, with a higher financial cost for agencies such as local authorities, the NHS 
and the criminal justice sector, as well as society as a whole. 

The National Children’s Attachment Guidelines (2015) commissioned by NICE noted 
that intensive training for foster carers combined with group cognitive and 
interpersonal skills sessions for children, has the potential to reduce care placement 
instability. NICE judged that the provision of such interventions is likely to lead to 
cost savings since it allows better placement of children and young people, timely 
and effective management, and potentially prevention of attachment difficulties (and 
costly short-term multiple placement changes). 

The Department of Education research report ( Flint et al, 2011) noted that the IIPs 
which were developed to support young offenders and young people on the edge of 
care, had often achieved 'soft' transformative outcomes such as reduced risky 
behaviours, enhanced self-esteem and confidence, improved domestic environments 
(emotional, social and physical) or had stabilised families. IIPs had also aided crisis 
management which had prevented situations from escalating. The majority of young 
people and their parents / carers believed that the IIP had been a positive 
experience that was directly linked to their significant progress and improved 
outcomes.

The South Yorkshire Empower and Protect Project findings (SYEP, 2017) 
demonstrated that by providing foster carers with specialist training and direct 
access to clinical expertise from the beginning of a challenging placement, rather 
than only when a breakdown is emerging, had greatly enhanced carers’ willingness 

Page 37



and ability to cope with self-harm/missing episodes.  The SYEP evaluation 
concluded that placements with trained and experienced foster carers with access to 
clinical expertise, combined with key worker support for young people, should be 
considered as viable alternatives to secure or specialist residential placements for 
exploited or high risk young people.

A review of factors that lead a foster placement to breakdown over the past 2 years 
within RMBC Children’s Services gave a picture of possible common themes 
including the number of placements moves, high Strength and Difficulties scores 
(SDQ), absconding and high risk behaviour in terms of risk to self or others, as well 
as risk of child exploitation. 

Information was gathered in relation to RMBC children who had more than three 
placement moves alongside SDQ scores of above 17.  65 children/young people 
were identified as having 3 or more placement moves:

 1 child/young person had 10 placement moves with a SDQ score of 18
 2 children/young people had 7 placement moves, with one of those young 

people scoring very high at 27 and one score unknown
 5 children/young people had 6 placement moves with scores ranging from 19 

to 31
 10 children/young people had 5 placement moves and scores of 17 +
 15 children/young people had 4 placement moves and scores of 17 +
 32 children/young people had 3 placement moves with scores of 17 +.  

From the sample of 65 it would appear that high SDQ scores are present in most 
cases where a child/young person has had 3 or more moves.  A significant number 
of these children/young people were placed out of area. 

In April 2017, Carol Sibley, Strategic Team Manager (LAC), study of looked after 
children with SDQ scores of 18 + and had experienced 3 or more placements, 
identified 6 children/young people:  5 were placed out-of-area and 1 within the local 
authority; 4 of the out of area placements were specialist residential units. From the 
information gathered it appears that placements which require support can be 
identified through high SDQ scores and by behaviour that raises significant concerns 
such as missing episodes, risk of child sexual exploitation, drug/and or alcohol 
misuse, anxiety, depression and self-harm. The themes which impacted upon the 
breakdown of the placements were:  

 Foster carers’ birth children either being hurt or threatened by the young 
person in their care, which led to the placement ending.

 Foster carers stating at point of breakdown that they had received insufficient 
information at the point of placement, and had they known from the start then 
they would not have offered to care. 

 Evidence of delayed assessments of young people.
 Three of the six young people made allegations against placement providers 

within a 12 month period – two were against residential staff, and one against 
an IFA foster carer – which ended each placement and necessitated a 
placement move. 

Page 38



 Contact with birth family. 

Successful and helpful interventions included: 

 Strong evidence of the role of the Rotherham therapy team (RTT)  being a 
positive intervention in terms of placement stability, the most helpful being 
feedback telephone calls from RTT practitioners to foster carers which 
unpicked negative language used by them, and promoted positive 
alternatives. Foster carers reported finding this advisory role extremely 
helpful, and were reassured by the conversational nature of the advice.

 Stability of the placement was enhanced by the cessation of contact with birth 
family in some cases.

 Attachment styles of both the children and foster carers to be understood in 
order for a more suitable match to be identified. 

 Listening to carers.

2. IIP criteria
IIP will use a statistical method to look at data held by Liquid Logic to generate 
potential referrals.  

The children and young people that can be referred to IIP are: 

 Rotherham Looked After Children aged from 6 to 15 years old,
 SDQ scores of 17 +, 
 number of placement moves, 
 history of significant trauma and abuse, 
 further factors to consider: Behavioural & emotional difficulties, emergence of 

missing episodes & risk of CSE, self-harm, anxiety, depression, drug and/or 
alcohol misuse.  

Further requirement: Acceptance and engagement by the social workers, foster 
carers and whole team working with the young person of the utility of the whole IIP – 
network meetings, training, reflective practice, consultations and therapeutic 
sessions.  

3. IIP aims

The overall aims of the programme are:

 To stabilise and support placements of challenging young people at 
high risk of placement breakdown. (Prevent moves /reduce the number of 
moves in a 12 month period).  
 To foster a therapeutic and psychologically informed understanding of 
the young people, including developing an understanding of how their 
previous experience impacts on their current challenging behaviour in 
order to develop effective strategies for managing these. (A shared 
formulation is created and shared in network meetings).
 To deliver effective therapeutic interventions which result in improved 
outcome measures.  (Carer and school rated scores improve during the 
IIP).  

Page 39



The Rotherham IIP Model

The model draws on the research discussed previously and also on therapeutic 
approaches such as Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy (DDP) which includes an 
understanding of blocked care and brain blocked parenting, Theraplay, EMDR, 
mentalisation, narrative and creative approaches. The model is systemic – training 
and supporting the team around the child, including foster carers, to enable the 
network to address the therapeutic needs for the young people.  

Page 40



Phase Details
Assessment 
and 
contracting

Statistical generation of young people who have high SDQ scores and high 
numbers/repeated placement moves.  IIP worker will organise an initial pre-
allocation consultation with social worker and fostering social worker.  The IIP 
worker will discuss the required level of commitment and sign up requirements 
for the whole network.  IIP worker to make a final decision on acceptance of 
referral or other recommendations.
An initial therapeutic network meeting will be held.  All adults involved in work 
with and the care of the child/young person shall be invited to this meeting. It will 
be important to identify professionals such as SW, FSW, carers, school, Police, 
Missing Officer, as well as Virtual School.  At this point the child/young person’s 
strengths, history and presenting issues will be discussed. This will provide an 
opportunity for sharing information and developing a live formulation using the 
chronology and other sources of information and beginning the process of 
linking current issues and behaviour to past experiences in order to inform the 
work and support the placement.
A range of supports can then be tailored to the needs of the young person and 
the team around them, to include regular therapeutic professionals meetings and 
regular family meetings to address issues arising within placement. These may 
be offered by the same person or by a range of workers within the system as 
considered therapeutically appropriate and as agreed within the team. The IIP 
worker will always remain the case manager for each child/young person 
referred.

Phase One Phase one consists of up to one day per week dedicated to one child/young 
person over a three month period. This is the most intensive phase and requires 
full commitment from all those involved in the work. 
1. Monthly Therapeutic Team Around Placement /network meetings, which 

include all key people working with and caring for the child/young person. 
Aims:

(i) Planning and Goal setting
(ii) Reflection/Therapeutic Thinking to foster a shared understanding of issues 

in the context of previous experiences
(iii) to develop empathy and effective strategies for intervention 
(iv) Ongoing Formulation to inform decision making and intervention
(v) Support foster carer to discuss plans with children/young person’s social 

worker
(vi) Ensure that foster carers’ views are listened to and acted upon
(vii) To share responsibility and risk management in order to manage and 

address risks proactively and avoid being risk averse
(viii)To ensure a shared perspective across the team to facilitate good team 

working and holding an ability to recognise both individual and systemic 
patterns

(ix) To maintain stability across potentially destabilising events such as changes 
of professionals, therapy and planned respite

(x) To offer training, consultation, supervision and the development of support 
groups.  

2. Support and consultation for professionals involved in the child/young 
person’s care and will be twice-monthly. This will involve:

Page 41



o Monthly Reflective Practice Session for Professionals (not including 
foster carers).   An opportunity to reflect on the work, share struggles, 
gain support and inform future practice.

o Monthly Training sessions for foster carers, school & social workers to 
develop further therapeutic skills.

3.  Support to foster carers. This will involve:
(i) Carer only phone call/consultation. As required – weekly check in.  

(ii) Therapeutic Family Meeting. To include carer, child/young person, IIP 
worker and child/young person’s therapist (if there is one).

(iii) To discuss issues arising in the placement. 
(iv) To foster a therapeutic empathic relationship between foster carers 

and young person by developing shared understanding of how past 
experiences impact on current difficulties. This helps to develop 
empathy for foster carers and the ability for everyone to understand 
the others’ point of view.  

(v) Drawing on trauma centred and DDP models, Using PACE, Identifying 
successes, Practicing having tricky conversations, & Practicing repair.

(vi) Developing a shared formulation.  
(vii) Training and Support Group for foster carers; to include opportunities 

for peer support as well as training in therapeutic parenting.  
4. Support & therapy for Child/Young Person - The following will be considered 

and offered where appropriate on a weekly basis:
(i)    Life story work & Therapy to address trauma where identified.  
(ii) Dyadic attachment work – with therapist, carers and child (DDP, theraplay 

or another structured therapy).  
(iii) Any therapy needs to be at the right time for the child/young person, and 

may need to be done in consultation with/or by referral to CAMHS, RISE, 
etc.  

(iv) Youth Work – Support Worker: This could from a range of sources, 
including school learning mentor or teaching assistant (LM/TA), CSE 
Barnardos/evolve :  One-to-one work/ CBT Self-help/ advocacy/ R2R 
engagement/ psycho educational/ transition support.  

End of Phase 
One

The aim would be to gradually reduce support within the system as the situation 
stabilises. A review will be held at this point and measures to be re-
administered, as well as feedback evaluations from carers and child/young 
person.  At this point a decision will be made about moving into Phase Two.

Phase two Phase Two is offered at a reduced level of intervention (up to four hours each 
week) but follows the same structure as Phase One and the timescale is three to 
six months. The aim is to continue to empower the systems around the 
child/young person, as well as helping to develop the child/young person’s 
wellbeing, self-esteem and resilience (secure base).
Regular Therapeutic Team Around Placement

(i) Meetings will be reduced from monthly meetings to every 6 to 8 
weeks. The aims and purpose of the meetings remain the same 
as in Phase One.

Support for professionals 
(i) Consultation on specific issues can be requested from the IIP 

worker who is the case manager – and this may be delivered at 
network meetings. 

(ii) Reflective Practice Sessions for Professionals (monthly sessions).

Page 42



(iii) Training programme continues (monthly).  
Support to foster carers:

(i) Support – by telephone, consultation and in between sessions as 
needed, but at a reduced frequency/length in time. 

(ii) The views of foster carers continue to be of the utmost importance 
within the work, and will be gathered accordingly.

(iii) Training sessions (monthly).
Support for Child/Young Person: 
Support via other agencies i.e., school mentors, Barnardos etc., will continue, if 
this is appropriate.  Dyadic Therapy remains the same as in Phase one.  And/or 
Additional work may be requested in consultation with/or by referral to CAMHS, 
RISE, Junction, etc. The IIP worker will remain the case manager regardless of 
whether the child/young person receives therapy from another agency or 
independent therapist. 

End of Phase Two
The aim is to gradually reduce support within the system as the situation 
stabilises.  At the end Phase Two a review will be held and measures will be re-
administered, as well as feedback evaluations from carers and the child/young 
person. 
At this point a decision will be made about moving into Phase Three.

Phase three Phase Three is a period of further reduction within the level of intervention by IIP 
and the timescale is three months. Only two hours each week will be available to 
the child/carers/team working with the child.  The time will therefore be 
prioiritised as direct dyadic therapy and consultation to carers and every 8 
weeks instead there will be a therapeutic network meeting.  

The aim is to continue to empower the systems around the child/young person, 
as well as helping to develop the child/young person’s self-esteem and 
resilience (within a secure base). 

1. Regular Therapeutic Team Around Placement -Meetings will take place 
every eight weeks. Support for professionals to plan and resolve issues.  

2. Consultation on specific issues can be requested from the IIP worker 
who is the case manager within the Network meetings. 

3. Ongoing attendance at training & Reflective Practice Sessions for 
Professionals will be required.  

4. Support to foster carers
Support remains weekly if needed, particularly to support the dyadic sessions.  
The views of foster carers continue to be of the utmost importance within the 
work, and will be gathered accordingly.

5. Support for Child/Young Person
Support via other agencies i.e., school mentors, Barnardos etc., will continue, if 
this is appropriate.  Weekly dyadic Therapy remains the same as in Phases one 
and two (around 36 dyadic sessions will have been delivered across a 12 month 
intervention). Other agencies may alternatively/in addition offer specific 
therapies/interventions.  

Page 43



Endings, 
evaluation & 
closure

A review of the intervention will be held and the final measures and final 
evaluations will be completed. Evaluations will be completed by all involved in 
the team around the placement, as well as the child/young person. Ongoing 
evaluations and access to training groups (2 years).  
Carers and the child/young person will have the opportunity to work on endings 
with the IIP worker and have space to say ‘goodbye’ and a celebration 
meeting/session could be arranged.  At the end of the work a final report will be 
provided which offers a formulation as well as identifying potential future risks 
and key strategies for managing these in the future.

Measures and Evaluations

It is the responsibility of the IIP worker to collect all standardised measures and 
evaluations and feedback forms/satisfaction questionnaires. These will be submitted 
to the allocated administrator for scoring and the IIP worker will analysis data and 
use appropriately in the formulation of each case and direct outcomes.  IIP workers 
will work within the Data Protect Act (1998) and ensure confidentiality, as 
appropriate. Consent will be sought at the start of the work with regards to the use of 
standardised measures and evaluations, as well as taking part in the IIP. 

(Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council, Rotherham Therapy Team, 2017)

References

Archer, C. and Gordon, C. (2006) New Families, Old Scripts: A Guide to the 
Language of Trauma and Attachment in Adoptive Families; London: Jessica 
Kingsley ISBN: 978-1-84310-258-8

Bomber, L. M. (2007)  Inside I’m Hurting; Duffield; Worth  ISBN 1-903269-11-3

Booth, P.B., and Jernberg, A.M. (3rd Ed) (2009) Theraplay.  Helping Parents and 
Children Build Better Relationships Through Attachment-Based Play; San Francisco: 
Jossey-Bass ISBN-13: 978-0470281666

Elliott, A.  (2013) Why Can't My Child Behave? Empathic Parenting Strategies that 
Work for Adoptive and Foster Families; London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers ISBN: 
978-1-84905-339-6

Flint, J., Batty, E., Parr, S., Platts-Fowler, D., Nixon, J. and Sanderson, D. (2011) 
Evaluation of intensive intervention projects; London: Department for Education

Geddes, H. (2005) Attachment In The Classroom; Duffield: Worth  ISBN 1-903-269-
083

Golding, K.S.  (2007) Nurturing Attachments, Supporting Children Who Are Fostered 
or Adopted; London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.  ISBN 978-1-84310-614-2

Page 44



Golding, K, Dent, H., Nissim, R., and Stott, L. (2006) Thinking Psychologically About 
Children Who Are Looked After and Adopted, Space for Reflection; Wiley-Blackwell. 
ISBN: 0-470-09201-7

Goodman, R (1997) The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note. 
Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 38, 581-586. 

Hughes, D. & Archer, C. (2003) Trauma, Attachment and Family Permanence: Fear 
Can Stop You Loving; London: Jessica Kingsley publishers.
 
Hughes, D. (2006) Building the Bonds of Attachment: Awakening Love in Deeply 
Troubled Children;  New York: Jason Aronson.

Hughes, D. (2009) Principles of Attachment-Focused Parenting: Effective Strategies 
to Care for Children; London: Norton Professional Books.

Hughes, D.A. (1998) Facilitating Developmental Attachment: The Road to Emotional 
Recovery and Behavioural Change in Foster and Adopted Children; New Jersey and 
London: Jason Aronsen Inc.

Lacher, D, Nichols, T., Nichols, M., and May, J.C. (2012) Connecting kids through 
stories; London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers  ISBN: 978-1-84905-869-8

Munro, R. M., & Hardy, A (2016) Placement stability: a review of the literature; 
London: DFES

NICE guideline (2015)  Children’s attachment: attachment in children and young 
people who are adopted from care, in care or at high risk of going into care 
Published: 25 November 2015 nice.org.uk/guidance/ng26

NICE (2010)  Promoting the quality of life of looked-after children and young people.  
28.   www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH28

Perry, A. (Ed) (2009) Teenagers and Attachment. Helping Adolescents Engage with 
Life and Learning; Duffield: Worth ISBN 9781903269138

Ryan, T. and Walker, R. (2007)  Life Story Work; London: BAAF.

Schofield, G and Beek, M. (2014) The Secure Base Model: Promoting attachment in 
foster care and adoption. London: BAAF

Sunderland, M. (2001) Using Story Telling as a Therapeutic Tool with Children 
(Helping Children with Feelings); Milton Keynes: Speechmark Publishing Ltd ISBN-
13: 978-0863884252
Walker, J. (2008) The use of attachment theory in adoption and fostering. BAAF – 
Adoption & Fostering Volume 32, Number 1. Pages 49 – 57. 

Page 45

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH28


Appendix A: Assessment/Outcome Measures 

Strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ)
The SDQ is a short behavioural screening tool that covers details of emotional 
difficulties, conduct problems, hyperactivity or inattention, friendships and peers 
groups, as well as positive behaviour. The SDQ provides a helpful way of assessing 
the emotional well-being of the overall population of looked after children (LAC), but 
also individual children and young people. The Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) can be used to indicate when there is a need for a discussion 
between the child/young person’s social worker and a Rotherham therapy team IIP 
intervention worker. This will happen when there is a score of 17 and above, even if 
there are no issues within the placement that a foster carer has specifically raised 
and/or requested support.  This will help to track the SDQ scores, how they are used 
and data analysed, and whether there were any interventions offered or tried, as part 
of the overall evaluation of the IIP. During the discussions it may be decided that a 
referral is not required at that time, but that a repeat SDQ will be completed within an 
agreed timescale. The foster carer will be kept informed of the discussions by the 
child/young person’s social worker. 

Carers’ Questionnaire
The carers’ questionnaire as developed by Dr Kim Golding, Clinical Psychologist. 
This questionnaire measures the quality of the relationship and helps to set goals 
within the work. 

Trauma Symptoms Checklist for Children (TSCC)
The TSCC was developed by Dr John Briere . The TSCC allows a practitioner to 
measure posttraumatic stress and related psychological symptomatology in children 
ages 8-16 years who have experienced traumatic events, such as physical or sexual 
abuse, major loss, or natural disasters, or who have been a witness to violence.

Revised Children’s Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS)
The Revised Children’s Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) and the RCADS – 
Parent Version (RCADS-P) are 47-item questionnaires that measure the reported 
frequency of various symptoms of anxiety and low mood. They produce a total 
anxiety and low mood score and separate scores for each of the follow sub-scales: 
separation anxiety; social phobia; generalised anxiety; panic; obsessive compulsive; 
total anxiety; and, low mood.

RCADS and the RCADS-P can be used for tracking symptoms as well as providing 
additional information for assessment. The tool can be useful in highlighting specific 
issues, such as separation anxiety or obsessive compulsive disorder, where the 
initial difficulty seems to be a more general one, such as generalised anxiety or low 
mood.

Randolph Attachment Disorder Questionnaire (RADQ) 
The RAD questionnaire helps to identify stressors associated to attachment. This 
questionnaire has been critiqued by other authors and in particular the scoring is 
descriptive rather than norm based.

Page 46



Goal Based Outcomes (GBO)
GBOs are a way of evaluating progress towards a goal in clinical work with children, 
young people, and their families and carers. GBOs compare how far a child or young 
person feels they have moved towards reaching a goal that they have set for 
themselves at the beginning of an intervention

Experience of Service Questionnaire (ESQ)
The ESQ, was developed by the then Commission for Health Improvement (now the 
Health Care Commission) as a means of measuring service satisfaction in Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services.  The ESQ consists of 12 items and three free 
text sections looking at what the respondent liked about the service, what they felt 
needed improving, and any other comments.  There is a child/young person and 
parent/carer version.

Page 47



Appendix 2: 

September 2017: IIP Service Evaluation – Intensive Intervention Program Pilot

Background

Following the closing of the South Yorkshire Empower and Protect (SYEP) project, 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) decided to contract a worker (AT) 
to provide an intensive support package for young people transferring from the 
project. The initial agreement was to provide a service similar to that which had been 
offered by SYEP, including monthly professionals meetings with a therapeutic focus, 
support for foster carers and supervision, support for professionals working within 
these families and direct work with the carers/young people where indicated.

The main aims of the programme were:

 To stabilise and support placements of challenging young people at high 
risk of placement breakdown or high risk CSE through supporting the 
team around the child, including foster carers, as well as addressing 
support needs for the young people (prevent placement moves & 
breakdown).  

 To foster a therapeutic and psychologically informed understanding of the 
young people, including developing an understanding of how their 
previous experience impacts on their current challenging behaviour in 
order to develop effective strategies for managing these (Network 
meetings).  

 To share responsibility and risk management in order to manage and 
address risks proactively and avoid being risk averse (Risk was discussed 
in network meeting and aims to reduce missing or cse incidents).  

 To ensure a shared perspective across the team to facilitate good team 
working (network meetings).  

 To assist professionals in maintaining perspective and holding an ability to 
recognise both individual and systemic patterns (network and reflective 
practice meetings).  

 To maintain stability across potentially destabilising events such as 
changes of professionals, therapy and planned respite (placement 
stability).  

The aim was then to review the intensive intervention program with a view to 
developing an evidence-based plan for providing support to young people at high 
risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE) or with multiple placement breakdowns. This 
evaluation will assess the outcomes of the intervention for five young people; four 
who were referred from the SYEP project (AS, TH, NB, OW) and one who received 
the same intensive support package, commissioned due to multiple placement 
moves (KP).  RTT employed a contractor AT to develop the package and deliver the 
interventions.  

Page 48



Results

Significant events

One method of evaluating progress was to tally the number of ‘significant events’ 
that were tagged on the casenotes system by professionals for each young person. 
Although whether an incident is deemed a significant event is a subjective view 
based on the opinion of the particular professional, such events included placement 
moves, episodes of self-harm/overdoses and incidents of running away/going 
missing.

For each young person, the number of significant events during the intervention 
period was compared with the number of significant events in an equal length period 
prior to intervention. Results in figure 1 show that for three of the young people the 
number of significant events reduced and for two of the young people, the number of 
significant events increased.

AS TH NB OW KP
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Before
During

Young Person

N
um

be
r o

f S
ig

ni
fic

an
t E

ve
nt

s

Figure 1. Number of significant events before and during intervention

In order to provide a more illustrative picture of the types of significant events that 
occurred before and during the intervention, case notes were trawled in detail and 
the number of specific episodes of going missing, overdoses, exclusions from school 
and placement moves were recorded during the intervention period and for an equal 
period before, as above. Figure 2 shows that all areas reduced during the 
therapeutic intervention period, especially the number of episodes of missing from 
home. There were no school exclusions or placement moves as reported in the 
casenotes during the therapeutic intervention period for any of the young people.

Page 49



missing 
episodes

overdoses school 
exclusions

placement 
moves

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Before
During

Type of event

N
um

be
r o

f E
ve

nt
s

Figure 2. Number of episodes of missing from home, overdoses, school exclusions 
and placement moves before and during therapeutic input

Page 50



Outcome measures

Three outcome measures were completed by carers at the beginning and completion 
of the intervention:

 The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) is a tool to assist in the 
evaluation of young people’s emotional and behavioural development, under 
the categories of prosocial, hyperactivity, emotional, conduct and peer 
problems. The questionnaire was devised by Goodman (1997, and revised in 
2005).

 The Carer Questionnaire (Carer-Q) is an indicator of parenting capacity in 
respect of attunement, connectedness, sensitivity and responsiveness to a 
young person’s needs. The questionnaire reflects the parent’s three main 
concerns and goals for work and development.

 The Randolph Attachment Disorder Questionnaire (RAD-Q) helps to identify 
stressors associated to attachment. When scoring the questionnaire, scores 
below 65 are consistent with the general population range, 65+ suggests 
borderline attachment concerns, 80+ suggests moderate and 100+ suggests 
severe attachment difficulties.  This questionnaire has been critiqued by other 
authors and the scoring is descriptive rather than normative data based.

Figure 3 shows scores on the SDQ for each young person, as rated by their carers. 
Scores above 20 are classed as ‘very high’, 17-19 ‘high’, 14-16 ‘slightly raised’ and 
0-13 ‘average’. Results show that two young people reduced by one category and 
three remained in the same category.

AS TH NB OW KP
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Pre
Post

Young Person

SD
Q

 s
co

re

Figure 3. SDQ scores pre- and post-intervention. Lower scores denote improvement

Page 51



Figure 4 shows scores on the Carer Questionnaire for each young person and show 
that scores were largely unchanged from pre-therapy to post-therapy.

AS TH NB OW KP
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Pre
Post

Young Person

C
ar

er
-Q

 s
co

re

Figure 4. Carer-Q scores pre- and post-intervention. 
Note no score available for OW pre-intervention.

Higher scores denote improvement

Figure 5 shows scores on the RAD-Q for each young person, with two young people 
improving on the measure and two young people slightly increasing their scores.

AS TH NB OW KP
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Pre
Post

Young Person

R
A

D
-Q

 s
co

re

Figure 5. RAD-Q scores pre- and post-intervention. 
Note no score available for OW pre-intervention

Page 52



Feedback from professionals

The child social workers for the five young people involved were contacted and 
invited to give their feedback and opinions on the intensive intervention program. A 
semi-structured interview approach was used, with feedback based on the following 
questions:

 What was helpful about the intervention?
 What was not helpful about the intervention?
 What would you suggest to improve the intervention?
 What were the key issues for your young person over the period of the 

intervention?

Results from five professionals identified the following themes:

 It helped the whole network work together better
o Shared narrative

“It really helped bring everyone onto the same page and offer a 
consistent approach”

o Discuss difficult issues
“It was a good place to have difficult conversations together and cure 
any differences”

o Formulation
“It was a useful place to be able to talk about why [she] was doing what 
she was and the best way for everyone to support her”

 Shared responsibility/mutual support
“It gave me fewer sleepless nights knowing that I wasn’t the only professional 
working with her”

 Helped young person talk about difficulties
“[young person] talked about topics that she hadn’t opened up about before”

Professionals also spoke about the fact that when a young person found it difficult to 
relate to the therapist, everyone was able to work together to understand why that 
may be, rather than therapy just finishing. Everyone spoke positively about the 
network meetings, with the main advantages being that it helped everyone stay on 
the same page and look at the positives of the case as well as the negatives. The 
only suggestions for improvement were for input to continue longer. Professionals 
felt that input covered a range of difficulties, from inappropriate use of the internet to 
self-harm and suicidal behaviour.

Page 53



Carer and young person evaluation of intervention

Carer and young person evaluation sheets were designed and sent out to carers and 
the young people involved in the intervention. The Intensive Support Feedback 
Questionnaire asked carers to assess issues including the extent to which they felt 
listened to, how useful the intervention was for their young person and whether it had 
led to an improvement in the stability of the placement, alongside the opportunity to 
suggest any improvements to the service.

Two carers returned the Intensive Support Feedback Questionnaire and the 
responses can be seen in Figure 6. IT shows that the carers rated higher the items 
that related to theirs and professionals’ understanding and work together, and lower 
for those related to the young person. Qualitative feedback included: ‘The wrap 
around support both [young person] and I have received is excellent’ and ‘More 
could be done to determine whether or not the child is fully bonding with the person 
providing the support and offering alternative support if necessary’.

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3

Make you feel listened to and understood
Increase your understanding of the young person ...

Reduce your concerns about the young person
Lead to an improvement in your relationship with...

Help the young person understand and respond...
Help the young person feel more settled in general
Lead to a reduction in ‘risky’ behaviours by your...

Lead to an improvement in the stability of the...
Enable different staff and/or agencies to work...

Average score

Figure 6. Average scores on the carer Intensive Support Feedback Questionnaire (0-
3)

The young people completed the Session Rating Scale, which asked them to mark 
on a scale from 1 to 10 how much they felt heard, understood and respected, how 
what was worked on was what they wanted to work on, the fit of approach of the 
worker and overall whether the sessions were right for them. 

Two young people returned the Session Rating Scale and the responses can be 
seen in Figure 7. Qualitative feedback included: ‘I didn’t feel the sessions helped and 
I just couldn’t connect with her’.  Low scores reflected difficulties in engaging young 
women at risk of CSE in therapy.  

Page 54



0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

I felt heard, understood and respected
We worked on what I wanted to work on

Therapist's approach was good for me
Overall the sessions were right for me

Average score

Figure 7. Average scores on the young person Session Rating Scale

It should be noted that only two young people and their carers responded so 
feedback may not be representative of all five young people and their carers.

Conclusion

Overall, the intensive intervention program for the five young people appears to have 
been effective and well received by the young people, carers and professionals 
involved. It has reduced the number of placement moves, episodes of going missing 
and other key indicators of stability for five young people at risk of placement 
breakdown. Professionals in particular report that they found the focus on getting 
everyone in the network working more intensively together particularly useful and felt 
that it gave them a clearer direction for the work to go towards. Although there was 
variability in the extent to which the young people responded to the direct therapeutic 
work, this could then be explored in the network meetings to understand why this 
may be so. 

Rob Johns, Clinical psychology trainee, with Dr Sara Whittaker and Anni Tosh.  
September 2017.  

Appendix 3: IIP 6 monthly report (1) up to 31 March 2018

Introduction

Following the closing of the South Yorkshire Empower and Protect (SYEP) project in 
March 2017, Rotherham local authority began the development of a new support 
package to provide a service similar to that which had been offered by SYEP.  
Rotherham’ s new support package has been developed by the Rotherham Therapy 
Team (RTT) and  the aims are to offer ‘wrap-around’  support for  children, young 
people and foster placements where severe and multiple vulnerability are identified, 
and vulnerabilities are causing difficulties for the child/young person and impacting 
on the stability of the placement. The support will be initially intensive with the aim to 
gradually decrease the support until the child/young person feels more stable, and 
risk to placement breakdown is reduced. The new project will operate under the 
name Intensive Intervention Programme (IIP). Outcomes measures are used to 
monitor the progress of the programme and to review. Please see detail in other 
reports and protocols.  

Page 55



Identification of the Continuous Improvement Cycle implementations & 
developments

1. Revised Referrals Procedure

Identifying the most appropriate referrals is a key element in the success of an IIP 
intervention. The programme requires the entire network around the young person to 
engage with all elements of the service.  Initial referrals for IIP were typically 
identified by senior managers, social workers and the Therapeutic Team manager 
and were based on young people having experienced several placement moves and 
reported distress. In order to ensure we were providing the programme to those most 
in need, the referral procedure was revised for 1 April 2018 to include statistical 
analysis to identify young people with the most significant risk factors, including SDQ 
score, number of placement moves, number of missing episodes and CSE risk. The 
data was analysed and discussed at regular referrals meetings along with additional 
referral information to ensure the IIP programme was offered to those in need. 

At referrals meetings, a list of 4-8 young people were identified who met criteria for 
IIP and were allocated for a pre-allocation consultation phase. During this phase an 
IIP worker gathered further referral information from case notes and previous 
reports, requested the referral form be updated/completed and provided an initial 
consultation to the social worker to determine suitability for IIP, based on level of 
need and ability for the network to engage with the programme. Please see 
Appendix A for the revised referral process. 

2. Demographics

In the period June 2017 – March 2018 a total of 45 referrals were made/ identified as 
suitable for the IIP programme. Please see table 1. 

Table 1. Number of young people accessing IIP service.

In receipt of full IIP In receipt of 
prevent/stepdown service

Referrals not picked up

24 3 19

Table 2. Age and gender of IIP participants.

Age Total Male Female
6 and under 1 1 0
7-10 10 7 3
11-14 11 4 7
15 and up 5 0 5

Page 56



Table 3. Placement type of IIP participants at start of IIP intervention

Placement type Start March 18
RMBC foster carers 9 9
Independent foster carers 14 10
Residential placement. 1 3
Independent living 0 2

Results

One of the key aims of the IIP programme is improving placement stability, therefore 
one method of evaluating progress was to compare the number of placement moves 
prior to the IIP programme, in the previous 12 months and since they became looked 
after. Please see Graph 1. 

Graph 1

Two or more moves 
since LAC

Two or more moves 
in 12 months prior 

to IIP

Two or more moves 
since IIP 

intervention

Any moves since IIP 
intervention

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

The graph shows the number of young people who had two or more placement 
moves since becoming looked after, two or more placement moves in the 12 months 
prior to IIP, and since IIP involvement (6 months). As can be seen in the graph there 
are fewer young people who have experienced two or more placement moves since 
IIP involvement than in the 12 months prior to IIP involvement.

For some young people progress can also be measured by comparing missing from 
home incidents and CSE risk score prior to and since IIP involvement.

Page 57



Graph 2 

Number of young people with missing 
episodes in 12 months prior to IIP

Number young people with missing 
episodes since IIP involvement

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

As can be seen above the number of young people with missing episodes has 
reduced. 

3. Cost savings analysis

One primary aim of IIP was to increase placement stability which in turn can result in 
better outcomes for the young person and a cost saving compared with potential out 
of area residential placements or placements with independent foster carers. 

All young people entered into IIP were at some risk of placement breakdown or had 
experienced more than one previous placement breakdown. Of all the young people 
who received the IIP programme, the same number of children were placed with 
RMBC foster carers by six months into the programme, three fewer were placed with 
independent foster carers, two young people were in independent living settings and 
three young people were in residential placements.  Of the three young people in 
residential settings in March 2018, one was placed in the residential setting prior to 
engagement in  the programme, two moved to residential placements within the first 
three months of the programme and one young person moved from a residential 
setting to a long term family foster placement. 

All young people entering onto the IIP programme were at risk of placement 
breakdown; however some young people were identified as at particular risk of 
placement in a residential setting. One young person’s case identified as at risk of 
placement in a residential setting due to the significant number of placement 
breakdowns is explored in more detail below in a case study further in the document 
(KC).

Page 58



4. Outcome measures

Five outcome measures were completed by carers at the start of the intervention, 
and repeated at three months, 6 months and 12 months, with a plan for follow up 
completion of measures at 3 months post intervention.

Please see Report dated September 2017 to consider the first five clients in IIP and 
for the outcome collection process, and analysis of outcome data results from the 
initial pilot for IIP (appendix 2).  

At this time we do not have enough available data to calculate reliable comparisons 
between pre and post scores on outcome measures as the team were not all in post 
until September 2017. The next six monthly report (September 2018) will include 
pre-post outcome comparison data.

5. Service Feedback.

Feedback was sought on the overall service offer and specific elements of the 
service from carers, professionals and young people accessing the IIP service 
(please see Pilot report).

a) Network meetings

Written feedback was sought from professionals and carers attending IIP network 
meetings.

- What did you find most helpful?
- What did you find least helpful?
- Did you feel the child’s views were taken into account?
- Did you feel listened to?
- Overall how would you rate the network meeting?
-

Eighteen evaluations were completed. All 18 evaluations reported that the child’s 
views were taken into account and that they felt listened to.

What did you find most helpful? 

On a scale of 0 being poor and 6 being excellent, all participants rated the network 
meeting at 5 or above, with the average rating being 5.82.

Participants identified the following themes:

- It was helpful for the team around the child to come together regularly.
- It was good to have a detailed history/timeline for the child.
- It was helpful to explore feelings not just facts
- It was helpful to have open in depth discussions of the child’s presentation.

Page 59



- It was helpful to gain an understanding of why the child was behaving the way 
they were.

- It felt safe.

What did you find least helpful?

One participant reported that it was difficult to fit in the number of meetings required.

b) Workshops

Monthly workshops were held for all carers and professionals involved in IIP cases. 
The workshops were covered the following topics: Using DDP ideas, Theraplay 
ideas, brain development and trauma, self-harm, therapeutic storytelling, teenagers 
and attachment. 

Between 10 and 19 participants attended each workshop, an average of 15 
attendees. It can be approximated that each young person on the IIP programme 
should have a minimum involvement of a supervising social worker, carer and social 
worker. There are a total of 24 young people with IIP involvement, which would 
suggest a minimum of 72 participants would be eligible for the workshops. This 
suggests that average attendance of 15 participants represents 20% of potential 
attendees.

Written evaluation and feedback was sought from all attendees following each 
workshop.  (Please see Appendix 3).

- Did the course meet the learning outcomes?
- What did you learn that will be useful in your work?
- How will you use what you have learnt?
- Are the handouts useful?
- Would you recommend this course to other people?
- What words would describe your experience of this course?

Table 4. Workshop feedback

Yes (%) No (%)
Did the course meet the 
learning outcomes?

100% 0

Are the handouts useful? 100% 0
Was the venue 
appropriate?

100% 0

Would you recommend 
this course to other 
people?

100% 0

The most common words people used to describe the workshops were: Thought 
provoking, useful, and valuable.

Page 60



Participants reported the following themes of positive feedback:

- I learnt strategies to use
- Good examples
- It will be helpful in 1-1 work
- It was professional, lots of useful information

Participants made the following comments on how the workshops could be 
improved:

- A different venue due to difficulties parking. (response: As Riverside was 
difficult to park at we moved to Kimberworth Place).  

- It would be better if the training was longer, we had more time.

c) Reflective Practice Groups

Monthly Reflective Practice sessions were held for all professionals involved in IIP 
cases (not foster carers). There has been between one and eight attendees at each 
session. It is anticipated that each young person receiving the IIP programme should 
have a fostering social worker and supervising social worker which would suggest 48 
professionals would be eligible to attend the group, which suggests that 
approximately 7% of professionals involved in an IIP case attended at least one 
reflective practice session. 

Social workers who have attended have reported that the have found the session 
helpful.  This was a recommendation from SYEP to minimise staff distress, maximise 
reflective practice and to minimise staff sickness.  

d) Service feedback

Carers and professionals involved with the IIP service will be asked to provide 
feedback on their experience of the service at 6 month review and closing at one 
year, most IIP cases are not yet at this point, therefore presented is feedback we 
have received to date.

Carers

All carers will be asked to provide detailed feedback on the IIP service as a whole at 
their six month review and at closing (one year). To date compliments received have 
included positive feedback on the direct therapy from carers and the approach as a 
whole. Compliments from carers have included comment on progress they have 
noted in the child and the positive approach of the IIP worker. Please see Appendix 
4 for more detailed feedback from two of our carers,

Page 61



Professionals

Professionals have provided more structured feedback following network meetings, 
and several professionals involved with IIP cases have contacted the team/team 
manager with compliments. This has included feedback on how valuable they have 
found the network meetings, reports on the process being positive and containing 
and positive feedback about the approach of the IIP worker. Please see Appendix 
4for compliments.

Young people

Feedback has been sought from young people engaging in direct therapy. All young 
people receiving the IIP programme have engaged with some form of regular direct 
therapy. Examples of feedback from young people engaged in therapy include:

 “It’s useful, helps me to talk about things and helps [carers] to understand me and 
talk about things we don’t talk about at home”.  

6. Case Examples
A. KC – age 7 in spring 2017

Pen Picture
Kaden is a 7 year old, White British male. Kaden is a likable, affectionate and loving 
little boy. He seeks comfort and attention. He likes the company of adults. Kaden has 
a very creative imagination. Kaden likes music, he enjoys singing and dancing. 
Currently Kaden presents as an anxious and at times an unhappy child. Kaden has 
complex needs and significant emotional and behavioural difficulties. Kaden tries to 
be in control and pushes boundaries. He can display aggressive behaviour towards 
others.

Brief History
There has been a long history of Social Care involvement.  Kaden has two older half 
siblings: N&A, and two younger half-siblings, twins, M&L. The family had a history of 
Social Care involvement due to worries around parental alcohol misuse, domestic 
abuse, E's poor emotional health, and poor home conditions, and unexplained 
injuries to the children.  Kaden and brother K and his younger half-siblings have 
been open to Social Care since December 2014 due to concerns around neglect. 
Care proceedings were initiated due to escalating concerns and evidence that the 
children were suffering, and were at risk of further suffering, significant harm. 
Concerns focused predominantly on poor supervision, lack of routines, lack of 
boundaries, poor home conditions, missed meals, parental aggression, poor mental 
wellbeing of parents and minimum acknowledgment of agency concerns from 
parents. 

The children were accommodated under Section 20, 29th May 2015.  An Interim 
Care Order was granted in respect of the children, 10th June 2015.  Viability 

Page 62



assessments were completed in respect of maternal grandmother, LC, and maternal 
Aunt, RC, although both were negative. Kaden and K's birth father that was also 
assessed and his extended family members. All these assessments were also 
negative apart from a paternal uncle and his partner. However as they had their own 
child and a pet after discussions they felt it was not the right time for them given 
Kaden and K's care needs. They have expressed an interest in contact in the future 
with Kaden and Kai.  The care plan that Social Care presented at court was one of 
long term therapeutic fostering for K and Kaden and parents did not oppose this 
decision. Half-siblings, M&L, were placed for adoption.  Full Care Orders were made 
in respect of Kaden and K, 10th February 2016.

Kaden and his older brother K were originally placed together however the 
relationship between them became very strained as Kaden's behaviour was 
challenging for K and K did not understand Kaden's complex needs. A sibling 
assessment concluded the boys should be separated with a view to repairing their 
relationship through positive contact. K remained in his foster placement and Kaden 
moved to another placement.  Kaden has experienced numerous placement moves 
in a short space of time and also moved schools which has significantly affected his 
emotional wellbeing. It is therefore paramount that Kaden has stability and can form 
an attachment to his carers.

Placement history

Despite being 7 years old, Kaden experienced 12 placement moves in 8 weeks over 
the summer of 2017, including two moves to emergency bed placements with staff 
employed as carers, when suitable carers could not be found. He has been placed 
with his most recent carers since August 2017. Previous carers have had difficulty 
responding to and understanding Kaden’s behaviour which has resulted in 
placements breaking down.  

IIP involvement

Since IIP became involved in August 2017, Kaden has received weekly direct 
therapy sessions with his carers, weekly carer consultations, monthly network 
meetings and his carers and the professionals working with him have attended 
monthly training workshops and have been offered monthly reflective practice 
sessions. Kaden’s IIP worker has been involved in considering the emotional impact 
of educational provision, supporting the social worker in considering appropriate 
placements.

Page 63



Kaden experienced a significant number of placement breakdowns in a short period 
of time, and there was some difficulty in identifying a placement with suitably 
experienced carers. This significant number of placement breakdowns could suggest 
there was a risk of a move to residential placement. Since IIP involvement there 
have been no further placement breakdowns/ moves and the current placement is 
stable. Kaden remaining in an IFA foster care since August 2017 as opposed to a 
residential placement has potentially saved between £2204 - £5754 per week based 
on the current costs of Kaden’s placement compared with potential costs for a 
residential placement.

The network around Kaden have provided detailed feedback regarding IIP (see 
Appendix 4). Kaden’s carer’s stated:

“The service that the IIP has given has far exceeded anything we have had 
from not only Rotherham but all other local authorities.  The complete 
package of training, support meetings, network meetings etc. have provided a 
service that has been second to none.  
We believe it has been a crucial part of providing a stable placement both at 
home and school for a very traumatized young man.  We are not sure that the 
improvements we have seen, especially at school would have come about so 
quickly – if at all, if it hadn’t been for the IIP.”

B. Oliver B aged 13 in summer 2017

Pen Picture

Oliver is a 13 year old White British male. He enjoys playing computer games on his 
xbox and he is a friendly and likable young man. 

Brief History

Oliver lived with his Mum who struggled to consistently meet his needs. It is reported 
that Oliver was often left to cry for long periods in his first year of life and his Mum 
had no fixed address which resulted in lots of moving around and staying with friends 
temporarily. It is reported that Oliver’s Mum struggled with mental health difficulties 
throughout Oliver’s early life, which meant that Oliver witnessed his Mum becoming 
very distressed and attempting to end her own life. Oliver’s maternal grandmother 
Alison frequently cared for Oliver overnight and for short periods of time when he 
was young. Oliver has a younger sister who was born when he was 4 years old, it is 
reported that Oliver often provided care for his sister when his Mum was not able to. 
It is reported that Oliver witnessed domestic violence when his Mum entered into a 
new relationship, and there is a reported incident of this partner pulling Oliver 
upstairs by his arm which resulted in bruising. A parenting assessment of Oliver’s 
Mum was found to be negative in October 2015.  

Page 64



Placement history

Oliver was placed with his maternal grandparents, Alison and Wayne in September 
2014. Unfortunately this placement broke down in July 2015; his grandparents 
reported they were struggling to manage Oliver’s behaviour within the home 
environment and there had been incidents of aggression at home and at school. 
Oliver moved to a residential placement with Haliwell homes on 7th July 2015; it is 
reported that his behaviour became increasingly difficult to manage in this 
environment from June 2016. Oliver was frequently aggressive; this was directed at 
staff members and other young people. Staffing ratios were increased to 2:1, 
however Oliver remained unsettled. In October 2016 Oliver moved to another 
residential placement, Oliver was reported to be more settled at this placement but 
there continued to be frequent episodes of aggression and anger outbursts, 
difficulties with engagement in school and activities and it is reported that Oliver’s 
engagement in therapy was intermittent. Oliver returned to his Grandparents care in 
December 2017.

IIP involvement

Since involvement with IIP in January Oliver has received weekly therapy sessions 
with his grandparents, weekly carer consultations, monthly network meetings and 
monthly training workshops for his carers and the professionals involved with the 
case and monthly reflective practice sessions have been offered. There have been 
no reported incidents of aggression or anger outbursts since his return to his 
grandparents’ care. Oliver has engaged in weekly therapy sessions with his 
grandparents and has settled well in placement. Oliver is engaging in his current 
educational provision, with plans for him to attend a suitable school provision this 
year. The IIP worker has spent time developing a shared understanding of Oliver’s 
early life and the impact this has on his coping strategies currently with the network 
and starting trauma based therapy with Oliver and his carers.

7. Discussion

The setting up of any new programme provides learning and development points to 
take forward. Key points of revision following the first 6 months of the IIP programme 
have been:

i. Referral process

Improving the referral process to ensure access to IIP is fair and effective has been 
key in ensuring some of the delays in working with young people experienced at the 
beginning of the IIP programme are not repeated. The young people we work with 
typically have complex networks of professionals and carers around them and there 
can be periods of crisis, this can mean that setting up initial network meetings and 
ensuring the network are able to commit to the IIP programme can be difficult. It is 
hoped that the new IIP pre-allocation phase will lead to the young people most in 

Page 65



need of IIP being identified and IIP offered to those it is likely to be most effective 
with. A key learning point has been the importance of gauging the network’s ability to 
commit to the full IIP programme at referral. A detailed tracker to monitor delays 
between referral and commencement of IIP programme has been kept and suggests 
that the initial stage of setting up network meetings and ensuring that carers and 
social workers can attend all elements of IIP has been the primary cause of delay in 
the system, therefore it is hoped that the pre-allocation phase will reduce the impact 
this has on allocation.

ii. Outcome measures

Processes for the collection of outcome measures have been improved throughout 
the first six months of the programme, ensuring that measures such as number of 
placement moves can be captured effectively and that outcome questionnaires are 
completed at regular intervals. This should ensure that by the one year IIP report in 
April 2019, there are a range comparison measures available to look at initial 
effectiveness of IIP. It may be at the one year point that additional outcomes 
measures need to be added or current measures revised.

iii. Workshops and Reflective practice session attendance.

The feedback we have received on workshops and reflective practice sessions has 
been overwhelmingly positive; however as can be seen in the figures detailed above 
not all members of IIP networks are regularly attending the sessions. During the next 
twelve months it is planned that we will monitor more closely the regular attendees of 
the workshops and reflective practice groups to gain a clearer understanding of the 
factors that affect attendance. In addition the pre-allocation phase introduced in 
following an IIP referral will help us to better understand the network’s ability to 
attend all IIP elements in most cases.  The engagement of the carers and colleagues 
is key to the success of the programme.  However, unlike other schemes, foster 
carers and networks are not pre selected and trained, but the child most in need is 
identified and IIP work to skill up and enhance the network already in place.   

Dr Hayley Wright, Clinical Psychologist, Intensive Intervention Programme.

                                                    Appendices 

Appendix A: Referral Process Diagram

Appendix B: Outcome Collection Process Diagram

Appendix C: IIP feedback

Appendix D: Compliments.

Page 66



APPENDIX A: Revised Referrals procedure.

IIP Referrals Meeting
• Use data set and other referral sources to select potential referral's for next cohort.
• List of potential referrals sent to second admin worker.

Referral information 
gathered by admin 

worker.

• Second admin worker will send out standard email to 
request referral from social worker.

• Second admin worker to gather additional referral 
information (placement/carer information, therapeutic input 
received to date).

• Admin worker to pass on all information gathered to IIP 
team.

IIP team meeting

• Team to look at who will have space for allocations in 
next cohort.

• Delegate consultations for young people we have 
received referrals for.

• Second admin worker to follow up social workers who 
have not provided referral information.

IIP worker 
consultation 

• IIP worker to organise initial pre-allocation consultation with 
social worker and fostering social worker.

• Discuss required level of commitment and sign up requirements 
for whole network.

• IIP worker to make final decision on acceptance of referral.

IIP referral data set produced by Cathryrn Woodward (performance team) and priorities for 
upcoming input (e.g. court ordered input, placement instability, potential returns from 
residential care etc.) collated.

Yes No

Send out consent 
forms.

Allocate to IIP 
worker

What will be offered?

- One off network?
- CORE Team?
- Re-referral in future?

Communicate and document decision regarding 
referral including reasons not accepted at this 
time and alternative suggestions.

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  8
 w

ee
ks

Page 67



• Referr

follow up : 

Referral

• Name
• DOB
• Social 
Worker

• Basic 
Information

Initial Network 
Meeting

• Carer Q
• SDQ 
• RAD Q
• RCADS
• Shared 
network goal 
and rating

Review 1 (3 
months)

• Carer Q
• SDQ
• RAD Q
• RCADS
• Shared 
network goal 
rating

Review 2 (6 
months)

• Carer Q
• SDQ
• RAD Q
• RCADS
• Shared 
network goal 
rating

Review 3 (9 
months)

• Carer Q
• SDQ
• RAD Q
• RCADS
• Shared 
network goal 
rating

Discharge (12 
months)

• Carer Q
• SDQ
• RAD Q
• RCADS
• Shared 
network goal 
rating

• Experience 
of service 
questionnaire

Information 
added to 
tracker by 
worker who 
receives 
referral /in IIP 
meeting

- IIP worker allocated YP.
- Worker picks up an initial 

pack.
- Measures completed at 

network meeting or worker 
sends out.

- Shared network goal 
developed in network 
meeting and rated.

- All completed questionnaires to be clearly labelled 
by worker (child name, DOB, initial, review, 
discharge) and paper copies handed in to Alex 
Badger.

- Alex/Kim to score, input score to spreadsheet and 
upload questionnaires as document to LCS. Paper 
copies to be returned to worker.

- Outcome data completion to be compared against 
tracker and monitored in IIP team meetings.

P
age 68



APPENDIX C: Carer feedback KC

Intensive Intervention Programme – Feedback Form for Carers

Child’s name: Kaden DOB: 6/7/10

Carers Name(s): Pete & Sue : Length of placement: 8 months  IFA

Period of involvement with IIP:

 How far do you feel the IIP intervention has helped to stabilize 
placements for this child? (Please rate from 1 – (hasn’t helped stabilize)  
to 10 (has really helped things feel more stable) Score… 10

      Comments: We took this placement wanting a Chrysalis ‘Transform’ package 
on offer from our agency.  However when the social worker offered IIP we 
thought we would give it a go!

Having fostered for 13 years we have had many different types of therapy and 
some has not been good!  However we have been very impressed with the level 
of support that we, and the other professionals working alongside us, have 
received.  We especially have benefited from having training sessions which 
carers, social workers and school are able to attend.  It means that we feel that 
everyone has a clear understanding of the work we are trying to achieve in 
placement and those around us aren’t questioning the approach.  

 How has IIP input helped you develop your therapeutic 
understanding of this child? (Please rate from 1 – my understanding is 
the same) to 10 (I feel I have really developed my therapeutic 
understanding of my child and this is increasing all the time). Score… 
10

      Comments:  Whilst we have worked for many years following Dan Hughes 
and Nancy Thomas approaches, we have always found that one approach 
doesn’t fit all.  What works for one child doesn’t work for another.  Therapy has to 
be tailored to meet the individual needs of the child and carers. IIP has helped us 
develop new therapeutic approaches for this particular child. 

Page 69



 How do you feel IIP has assisted in developing a shared therapeutic 
understanding across the network? (Please rate from 1 – there is no shared 
understand of this child within the network) to 10 (the network have a shared 
therapeutic understanding that underpins all responses) 10

Comments: Sometimes we have been prevented from being therapeutic by 
other professionals who haven’t understood the importance of approaches like 
theraplay.  They have seen it as being ‘babyish’, not understanding the desire 
to underpin the child.  The joint network meetings and training courses have 
helped other professionals who work alongside us to understand the needs of 
the child and the therapeutic approach that we are taking.

 How has IIP helped you in managing any risky/challenging  
behaviours? (Please rate from 1 (I feel powerless and confused by 
risky behaviours) to 10 (I feel I understand why risky behaviours 
happen and have tools to address risks proactively and manage 
challenging behaviours) 10

              Comments: K has had the most moves in a short space of time of any of the 
children we have looked after (12 moves in 8 weeks).  Many of these were due to 
challenging behaviours.

IIP gave us an opportunity to talk about the behaviours, share our concerns and 
discuss strategies.  It also helped other professionals such as school develop ways 
to deal with the child when they became challenging.

 How helpful are you finding the therapeutic sessions for the 
child? (Please rate from 1 (I find the therapy confusing or unhelpful for 
the child) to 10 (I feel clear on the purpose and have seen steady 
progress in therapy and in placement) 10

Comments:  The sessions are always tailored to the child’s needs.  There is 
always flexibility in the program to compensate for how the young person is 
presenting on the day.
If a session has been challenging we have always received a follow up call to 
discuss how things have gone.  

Page 70



 How useful do you find the carers sessions for you? (Please rate 
from 1 (These feel pointless or negative) to 10 (These feel  relevant 
and supportive) 10

    
Comments:  The carer sessions have been very important to us.  They are a 

useful time to chat about recent issues and also review the previous 
sessions.  It also means that we are able to chat about how the 
sessions might develop over time and tailor things to help with things 
that the child might be struggling with.

 How would you rate the workshops Score out of 10: 9

Comments re . Content? Topics? Pitch? Length? Relevance? Participation?

We love training courses! On the whole these have been really good and 
beneficial.  One of the great things about them is that everyone is invited to 
them.  So as well as learning about something that may benefit us, we get to 
spend some time with the teachers and social workers in a different 
environment.  We found that this really broke down barriers between us and 
school.

 Any other comments you would like to say or changes you would like 
to see?

We have done therapy with and without children for the last 13 years.  I have 
to say we were slightly skeptical about IIP as to be honest, as independent 
foster carers we have the ‘luxury’ of choosing which local authority we work 
with, and Rotherham has never been high on our list. There are other local 
authorities have always offered a better level of therapy than Rotherham.
However, we would say that the service that the IIP has given has far 
exceeded anything we have had from not only Rotherham but all other local 
authorities.  The complete package of training, support meetings, network 
meetings etc. have provided a service that has been second to none.  
We believe it has been a crucial part of providing a stable placement both at 
home and school for a very traumatized young man.  We are not sure that the 
improvements we have seen, especially at school would have come about so 
quickly – if at all, if it hadn’t been for the IIP.

Page 71



Thanks for your time, comments and help in shaping this service!

The IIP Team

Response: IIP to consider the cost of Transform – estimated at £72k pa (see leaflet)**

Page 72



APPENDIX D: Compliments

Email received re reflective practice from social worker

From: Joanne 

Sent: 14 November 2017 09:45

To: IIP

Subject: RE: Apologies

I hope so too! I found it really helpful the last one I attended. Thanks Sheila 

Email feedback from Carol Sibley following network meeting observation.

I felt that the network meeting was well attended and purposeful.  The start appeared 
a little shaky in my opinion – you needed to start with a clear, strong lead on the 
purpose of the meeting, how important every single person’s input is today, and 
refocus everyone on the child in question.

Niki has a lovely manner, very personable and non-challenging, and I think you need 
to complement this style by repeating key info and relating this to the development of 
the brain/emotions/ attachment/ understanding of the world – so that those present 
will link what they are witnessing in the child to the reason for this behaviour, and 
begin to process how to engage differently and more positively with that child.  Will 
you be offering advice on how to do this latter point?

The recording on the wall was visually very good – I would have challenged the SW 
more to give details, and asked the previous SW to attend too, as there is likely to be 
key pieces of info/ observations of interactions gained which may not have been 
recorded in case files.

It was really heartening to see so many at the meeting – including school staff – and 
I really got the sense that they will see that child differently from that day onwards: 
having a real insight into their past and will take more care in their interactions with 
and planning for him.

I didn’t want the meeting to end! It was like a mystery unravelling and I wanted to go 
away and really dig into the records to glean extra pieces of the jigsaw! I hope that 
the other attendees felt the same way!

Refreshments and biscuits are really needed to counteract the difficult information 
being relayed (not everyone is as tough as us SWs and Therapeutic staff!) and a 

Page 73



comfort break after the first hour should be offered, even if not taken up.  Would love 
to attend the next one too but didn’t note the date!    

Positive comments received from foster carer following eighth theraplay based 
session through IIP. Comments related to use of chewy sweets to help him 
regulate at the end due to his negative experiences of endings:

From: TW

Sent: 28 September 2017 12:41

To:  Niki

Subject: Fwd: carer experiences of child template to assist in transition

Hi :
Sweets worked brilliantly, thought is was an excellent session and was glad you 
could reinforce you would there . I know he is growing in confidence too, dancing 
with both of us was a huge step forward I thought . See you next week .

Tracy 

From: Suzanne 

Sent: 05 October 2017 16:49

To: Sara

Subject: gratitude

Hi Sara,

I feel compelled to just send you a quick e-mail in respect of your team and the 
services you offer. I am really grateful for the swift response to my worries about 
Conna and supporting the foster carers and I wished to say thank you for this.

More pertinently I wanted to express how impressed I have been with the new IPP 
service and particularly the work of Nikki. She has worked closely with my carers 
T&JW and has gone above and beyond all expectations in terms of the support and 
enthusiasm that she has offered them in their support of Dylan. I know they are most 
grateful for this and it has enabled them to manage the complexities of this 
placement very effectively.

Nikki has been very pro-active in her approach, communicating regularly, sharing 
ideas and strategies and most impressively always placing Dylan’s’ needs first.  She 
has an amazing approach and readily demonstrates her genuine care for this child. 

Page 74



She has helped us all to understand his journey within the therapeutic context and 
his presenting behaviours as a result.  

I just wanted to convey how impressed I have been with her work and dedication, 
phoning regularly, communicating effectively and being an invaluable help and 
support to us all.

Thanks to all,  Best wishes,  Suzanne

Social Worker, Fostering Training Recruitment and Assessment Team.

Riverside House, Floor 1B

From: Angela 

Sent: 23 January 2018 08:56

To: Hayley

Cc: Sara

Subject: RE: Minutes OB network meeting

Hi Hayley

Thanks , I would just like to inform you how interesting and valuable I found the 
meeting, I thoroughly enjoyed this  and found it beneficial to my work with Oliver and 
the family.  I would just like to inform you of this as this was a very positive 
experience for myself and hopefully the family ,. I am looking forward to the training  
as this will inform my practice. Not often we get the chance to say this . 

Thanks , Angela Hardy , Social worker

Page 75



Educational Outcomes
 Looked After Children & 

Young People
2018

Corporate Parenting Panel 
August 28th 2018

Version 2 Updated

Page 76 Agenda Item 12



Attendance 2017.2018

Attendance 2017.2018 2016.2017
Overall Attendance:       94% 93.5%
Full Attendance:          14.3%  (38/266) 15%  (33/220)
Good or better attendance: 76%  71%
Persistent Absence  (20+days):       14.7% 13.3%
 There have been some small but welcome improvements in attendance 2017.2018
 Good or better attendance has increased by 5 percentage points. 
 Persistent absence has increased by 1.4% based on the Dfe figure for 2017.
 Comparing and contrasting persistent absentees with those with 100% attendance the key 

correlations are in relation to the  type and number of care placements, special educational needs, 
and whether or not the CYP is in a mainstream or non-mainstream school. These are, of course, 
inextricably interrelated.

Exclusions 2017.2018

Exclusions 2017.2018 2016.2017
Permanent: 0 0
Fixed term 34/266 (12.8%) 33/220 (15%) 
Number of exclusions 17/34 had 3+ exclusions 15/34 had 3+ exclusions
Days excluded in total 17/34 (50%) 4 + days of exclusions 15/34 (44%) 4 + days of exclusions
NCY 38% in Years 10 and 11 50% in Years 10 and 11
Phase 15% primary 12%  primary
School Type 1 in 3 in non-mainstream 1 in 3 in non-mainstream
Ofsted Rating 3/4 excluded from good + schools 3/4 excluded from good + schools
Local Authority 68% from OOA schools 47% from OOA schools
Gender 53% female 44% female
Ethnicity Predominantly white British; 4 GRT Predominantly white British; 1 GRT 
SEN 56% high level needs 65% high level needs
Time in Care 44% in care for 5 years + 35% in care for 5 years +
Placement type 65% in foster care 71% in foster care
Placement moves 47% had 3 or more placements 76% had 3 or more placements

 Based on local data, fixed term exclusions have fallen 15% from 15% to 12.8%
 50% had 3 or more exclusions
 There were fewer exclusions at KS4
 Significantly more were excluded from out of authority schools
 There were 11 exclusions from RMBC schools, 5 primary and 6 secondary
 More females than males this year
 Pupils from black or other minority groups made up 25% of excluded pupils. 
 By days, BME pupils received over a third of total exclusions
 Significantly fewer with multiple placement moves than last year
 Placement stability is a much stronger predictor of exclusion than length of time in care
 Unacceptable, threatening or otherwise disruptive behaviour account for the overwhelming  

majority of days lost to exclusions

Page 77



Primary Outcomes 2017.2018

Educational Outcomes for RMBC 
LAC compared with all pupils in 
RMBC and  with all LAC and all 
pupils nationally

National All 
Pupils (%)

Rotherham 
All Pupils (%)

National LAC 
(%) Rotherham LAC

 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2018

EYFS Good Level of Development 69.3 70.7 70.4  72.1   29% 
(2/7)

67%
(4/6)

40%
(40%)

         

Y1 Phonics 81 81 79 79   67%
(6/9)

60%
(3/5)

78%
(7/9)

         
KS1 Reading  
Reached Expected Standard 74 76 71 73 50  51 67%

(6/9)
25%
(3/12)

38%
(5/13)

KS1 Writing  
Reached Expected Standard 66 68 65 69 39  39 56%

(5/9)
17%
(2/12)

38%
(5/13)

KS1 Mathematics  
Reached Expected Standard 73 75 71 75 46  46 56%

(5/9)
33%
(4/12)

62% 
(8/13)

         
KS2 SP&G  
Reached Expected Standard 72 77 71 76 44 50 33%

(7/21)
46%
(11/24)

KS2 Reading 
Reached Expected Standard 66 72 64 69 41  45 38%

(8/21)
42%
(10/24)

54%
(13/24)

KS2 Writing 
Reached Expected Standard 74 76 78 77 46  47 33%

(7/21)
38%
(9/24)

54%
(13/24)

KS2 Mathematics
Reached Expected Standard 70 75 72 76 42  46 33%

(7/21)
33%
(8/24)

58%
(14/24)

KS2 RWM
Reached Expected Standard 53 61 54 61 26  32 24%

(5/21)
25%
(6/24)

42%
(10/24)

Year 1 Phonics:    these are the best outcomes in 3 years

Key Stage 1:       some improvements in reading, writing and maths compared with 2017

Key Stage 2:       best results over  the last 3 years in reading, writing and maths, with 42% achieving all 3

Key Stage 2:     contextualised outcomes (excluding EHCPs) at KS2 2016-2018 show a year on year improvement

Page 78



GCSE Outcomes 2017.2018

GCSE results 2018 and contextualised by SEN and school type

Number of GCSE 
grade 4 +

%age GCSE grade 4+ 
(cohort 43)

%age excluding EHCP  
(cohort 23)

%age mainstream only
(cohort 19) 

9 2.3 4.3 5.3
8 4.8 8.7 10.5
5 7.0 13.0 15.8
5 9.3 17.4 21.1
4 11.6 21.7 26.3
4 14.0 26.1 31.6
3 16..3 30.4 36.8
3 18.6 34.8 42.1
2 20.9 39.1 47.4
2 23.3 43.5 52.6
1 25.6 47.8 57.9

Cohort:                                          43
EHCP/Statement:                        20
EHCP/S/Statement pending:    24 
Mainstream:                                19
Non-mainstream:                        24 including special, secure, not in education

Full cohort:
 4/43 (9.3%) achieved 5+ GCSE at grade 4 + 
 4/43 (9.3%)   achieved  4+ GCSE inc. English & maths at grade 4+
 6/43 (14.0%) achieved 4+ GCSE at grade 4+

Of those in mainstream schools:
 5/19 (26.3%) achieved 5+ GCSE  at grade 4 + 
 8/19 (42.1%) achieved 4+ GCSE  at grade 4+

Grade 4+ in English and Grade 4 in Maths
English Grade 4+ Maths Grade 4+

Full cohort (43) 5/43 11.6% 8/43 18.6%
Excluding EHCP (23) 5/23 21.7% 8/23 34.8%
Mainstream ((19) 5/19 26.3% 8/18 42.0%

Full cohort:                            11.6% achieved grade 4+ in English and 18.6%  in maths
                                                 7.0% achieved grade 4+ in both English and maths

Of those in mainstream:    26.3% achieved grade 4+ in English and 42% achieved grade 4+ in maths
                                                 15.8% achieved grade 4+ in both English and maths

Page 79



Characteristics of Highest Achieving LAC GCSE 2018

N
um

be
r g

ra
de

 4
+ 

G
CS

E

G
CS

E 
En

gl
is

h 
gr

ad
e

G
CS

E 
M

at
hs

 g
ra

de

G
en

de
r

Et
hn

ic
ity

Sc
ho

ol
 T

yp
e

SE
N

Pl
ac

em
en

t T
yp

e

N
o.

 P
la

ce
m

en
ts

Ex
cl

us
io

ns

Da
ys

 A
bs

en
t

Ti
m

e 
in

 c
ar

e

KS
2 

gr
ad

e 
En

gl
is

h

KS
2 

gr
ad

e 
m

at
hs

9 5 5 F WBRI MS N U4 2 NO 1.5 9+ NK NK
 8 7 6 F WBRI MS N U6 2 NO 6 1+ NK NK

5 4 4 F WBRI MS N U4 3 NO 1.5 6+ 4 4
5 4 2 F WBRI MS N U6 2 NO 2.5 1+ 3 3
4 3 4 M WBRI MS N U6 5 NO 1 6+ 4 4
4 3 4 M BWA MS N U6 1 NO 1 1+ 4 5
3 3 8 M WBRI MS N U4 2 NO 6.5 5+ 4 6
3 4 2 F WBRI MS N U4 1 NO 0 6+ 4 4
2 3 5 M WBRI MS N U4 1 NO 0 3+ 3 4
1 2 4 F AOWB MS K* U6 2 YES 14 1+ 3 4
1 2 2 F WBRI MS E U6 4 YES 3 5+ 4 4

11/11  in foster care                    11/11 in mainstream schools             2/11  with SEN

8/11 in one or two placements                 9/11 with very good /excellent attendance

9/11 no exclusions          7/11 female         9/11 WBRI

LAC achieving level 4+ in English and Maths at KS2 achieving neither  grade 4 + in English or maths

G
en

de
r

Et
hn

ic
ity

Sc
ho

ol
 T

yp
e

SE
N

Pl
ac

em
en

t 
Ty

pe

N
o.

 
Pl

ac
em

en
ts

Ex
cl

us
io

ns

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

Ab
se

nc
e

Ti
m

e 
in

 c
ar

e

En
g 

G
CS

E

M
at

hs
 G

CS
E

F WBRI MS E U6 4 YES NO 5+ 2 2
M WBRI NMS K P1 4 NO YES 7+ No quals
M WBRI MS N P1 2 NO NO 5+ U 1
F WBRI MS N U6 1 NO YES 1+ 2 2
F WBRI NMS K H5 9 NO YES 4+ 0 0
M WBRI NMS E K2 6 NO YES 4+ 1 3
F WBRI MS K K2 5 YES YES 2+ 0 2
F WBRI MS E P2 15 NO YES 9+ 0 0
F WBRI NMS E K2 4 NO NO 2+ D 3
F WBRI NIE E P2 5 NO YES 3+ 0 3

7/10   female                   10/10   WBRI           5/10   non-mainstream school                   5/10 EHCPs               

4/10 residential             2/10 with parents             2/10 living independently            2/10 foster care

6/10 with 4+ placement moves             7/10 persistent absentees                  6/10 < 4 years in care

Page 80


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 9th July, 2018
	6 LAC Council and Lil LAC Club Annual Report Summary  2017/2018
	8 Corporate Parenting Performance Report - June 2018
	Corp Parenting Performance - June 2018 - I1

	9 Rotherham SIF Improvement Plan
	10 Intensive Intervention Programme - Pilot Phase
	12 Educational Outcomes - Looked After Children and Young People 2018

